
City of Capitola Agenda  

 

   

Mayor: Jacques Bertrand  

Vice Mayor: Kristen Petersen  

Council Members: Ed Bottorff  

 Yvette Brooks  

 Sam Storey  

   

 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
THURSDAY, OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
7:00 PM 

 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

420 CAPITOLA AVENUE, CAPITOLA, CA  95010 
 
 

All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday preceding a Council 
Meeting will be distributed to Councilmembers to review prior to the meeting.  Information 
submitted after 5 p.m. on that Wednesday may not have time to reach Councilmembers, nor 
be read by them prior to consideration of an item. 
 
All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be 
considered as Public Hearings. 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Members Sam Storey, Kristen Petersen, Yvette Brooks, Ed Bottorff, and Mayor 
Jacques Bertrand 

 2. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Presentation by Assembly Member Mark Stone  

B. Local Government Academy Introduction  

 3. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

Additional information submitted to the City after distribution of the agenda packet. 

 4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 

  

 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
October 24, 2019 

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 10/18/2019 10:57 AM 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City Council on 
any item not on the Agenda.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes per speaker.   
Individuals may not speak more than once during Oral Communications.  All speakers must 
address the entire legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. All 
speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so 
that their name may be accurately recorded in the minutes.  A MAXIMUM of 30 MINUTES is 
set aside for Oral Communications at this time. 

 6. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS 

City Council Members/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or identify issues 
for staff response or future council consideration. No individual shall speak for more than 
two minutes. 

 7. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All items listed in the “Consent Calendar” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed 
below.  There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council 
votes on the action unless members of the public or the City Council request specific items 
to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered 
following General Government. 
 
Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have 
been read by title and further reading waived. 

A. Consider the September 26, 2019, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Planning Commission Action Minutes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive minutes.  

C. Approval of City Check Registers Dated September 6, September 13, September 20 
and September 27, 2019.  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 

D. Consider a Resolution Accepting an Alcoholic Beverage Control Grant  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt a resolution accepting a State of California 
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control grant for $13,500 to support training and 
enforcement, and authorize amending the Fiscal Year 2019/20 General Fund 
operating budget to increase revenues and expenditures by $13,500. 

E. Consider Awarding a Contract for the Restriping of 41st Avenue  
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Award a contract to Safety Striping Service for 
$29,975.25 plus a 20 percent contingency for restriping on 41st Avenue. 

F. Set Appeal of Planning Commission Denial of Tree Removal Permit  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Schedule the appeal hearing for a tree removal permit 
at 1600 49th Ave. for the regular City Council meeting of January 23, 2020. 

  



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
October 24, 2019 

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 10/18/2019 10:57 AM 

8. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

All items listed in “General Government” are intended to provide an opportunity for public 
discussion of each item listed. The following procedure pertains to each General 
Government item:  1) Staff explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) 
Council deliberation; 5) Decision. 

A. Consider Afterschool Program Scholarships  
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
1. Approve a scholarship program for the Recreation Division afterschool program, 

and  
2. Authorize a budget amendment to allocate $4,000 from the dedicated early 

childhood and youth programs fund, and to accept a $4,000 matching 
contribution for the scholarship program from the Soquel Union Elementary 
School District. 

B. Introduction of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 15.04 of the Capitola Municipal 
Code Pertaining to Building and Fire Model Codes  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt first reading of an Ordinance amending Municipal 
Code Chapter 15.04 to update building and fire codes reflecting 2020 state 
standards. 

C. Introduce an Ordinance Amending Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 2.12, Planning 
Commission  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the first reading of an ordinance amending 
section 2.12.010 regarding Planning Commission membership to require that 
commissioners reside within the City limits or sphere of influence. 

D. Approve the Sole-Source Contract for CSG Consultants for On-Call Building Division 
Contract Services 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve a sole-source contract for on-call Building 
Division contract services with CSG Consultants in an amount not to exceed $61,300 
for Fiscal Year 2019/20 and $39,600 for fiscal year 2020/21 and a budget 
amendment for fiscal year 2019/20 in the amount of $78,300. 

E. Consider Adding Streets within the Jewel Box Neighborhood to be Slurry Sealed as 
Part of the Jewel Box Sewer Project  
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the Public Works Department to reimburse 
the County of Santa Cruz for slurry sealing additional streets within the Jewel Box 
neighborhood as part of the County’s Jewel Box Sewer Project at an estimated cost 
of $84,750; and approved a budget amendment of $93,000 transferring funds within 
the Capital Improvement Program. 

 9. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Note: Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6. Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.” Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing. Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in 
court. 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
October 24, 2019 

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 10/18/2019 10:57 AM 

 
Notice regarding City Council: The City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month 
at 7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 
Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council Agenda and the complete Agenda Packet 
are available for review on the City’s website: www.cityofcapitola.org and at Capitola City Hall prior to 
the meeting. Agendas are also available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, 
Capitola. Need more information? Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet: Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act: Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990. Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting 
in the City Council Chambers. Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 
due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at 
831-475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are 
requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings: City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be rebroadcasted at 8:00 a.m. on the Wednesday following the 
meetings and at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday following the first rebroadcast on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25). Meetings are streamed “Live” on 
the City’s website at www.cityofcapitola.org by clicking on the Home Page link “Meeting 
Agendas/Videos.” Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at any time. 

 
 



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Presentation by Assembly Member Mark Stone  
 

 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: Assemblymember Mark Stone represents the 29th Assembly 

District including Capitola. He will provide an overview of state legislation and its impact locally. 

The City also will thank him for efforts to obtain state funding toward preservation of the historic 

Capitola Wharf. 

 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

2.A

Packet Pg. 5



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Local Government Academy Introduction  
 

 
 
BACKGROUND:  The Capitola Local Government Academy provides community members with 
a broad overview of local government. The goal of the program is to promote participation and 
awareness of how the City works, and the City’s role in the larger structure of local government.  
The City of Capitola generally holds Local Government Academies prior to the municipal 
elections. 
 
DISCUSSION: The Local Government Academy is designed to engage, educate, and develop 

service-oriented individuals who live and/or work in Capitola and who may be interested in 

assuming leadership roles in community and neighborhood organizations.   

Staff has developed the curriculum based on previous Academies and feedback from 

participants. The proposed Local Government Academy will take place in January and February 

2020.  

The 2017-2018 Local Government Academy was held over four two-hour sessions and had 11 

participants. 

The 2017–2018 Academy consisted of the following topics: History of Capitola; local 

government representatives from various agencies that provide services in Capitola, such as 

Soquel Union Elementary School District and Central Fire Protection District; and 

comprehensive presentations by all City departments.   The format is anticipated to be similar 

for the upcoming Academy. 

Staff is planning on accepting applications throughout November. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: The projected fiscal impact is less that $500 and is included in the budget. 

 
 

Report Prepared By:   Larry Laurent 
 Assistant to the City Manager 
 

2.B

Packet Pg. 6



Local Government Academy  
October 24, 2019 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

2.B

Packet Pg. 7



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider the September 26, 2019, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 
 
DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes of the regular 

meeting of September 26, 2019. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 9-26 draft minutes 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.A

Packet Pg. 8



 

 

DRAFT 
CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 26, 2019  

 
Mayor Bertrand called the meeting to order at 6 p.m. There was no public comment and the 
Council adjourned to City Manager’s office to discuss the following closed session items: 

 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR [Govt. Code §54957.6] 

Negotiator: Larry Laurent 
Employee Organizations: (1) Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Capitola Police 
Captains, (3) Confidential Employees; (4) Mid-Management Group; and (5) Department 
Heads 
 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL –  ANTICIPATED LITIGATION  

Initiation of litigation pursuant to Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(4). 

(One potential case) 
 

LIABILITY CLAIMS [Govt. Code §54956.95] 

(Two claims) 
Claimant:  Bruce Stamps 
Agency claimed against:  City of Capitola 
 
Claimant:  Madeline Chiavetta 
Agency claimed against:  City of Capitola 

 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 7 PM 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Member Yvette Brooks: Present, Council Member Ed Bottorff: Present, Council 
Member Sam Storey: Present, Vice Mayor Kristen Petersen: Present, Mayor Jacques 
Bertrand: Present. 

 2. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Junior Guards Recognition 
 
Recreation Supervisor Nikki Bryant LeBlond joined Mayor Bertrand in honoring Junior 
Guards award winners. 

B. Introduce New Building Inspector 
 
Community Development Director Katie Herlihy introduced new Building Inspector Cat 
Thrasher. Ms. Thrasher thanked the Council and said she was pleased to be working in 
her community. 

 3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 

  City Attorney Samantha Zutler said the Council received reports on the items listed. 

  

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

-2
6 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
September 26, 2019 

 

 

  

 4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

A. Item 9.A – Four communications. 

 5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA - None 

 6. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

      Gary David Arnold spoke about various public figures. 

 7. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS 

Council Member Petersen noted that with the approaching 2020 census count, children 
under five and seniors are most likely not to be counted. She encouraged everyone to 
participate as an accurate count is vital to districting and state and federal funding. She also 
said the annual Silicon Valley Leadership Group Turkey Trot supports nonprofits including 
Second Harvest Food Bank and encouraged local participation. 

Council Member Brooks attended a September 20 criminal justice gang violence 
symposium. She also reported that Project Pajamas is seeking partners to distribute 
pajamas to those in need. The Sheriff’s Office will hold its annual Trunk or Treat festival 
October 25. She encouraged the community to look into the City of Santa Cruz’s online 
health policy survey. Finally, she congratulated Nick Brown, Capitola resident and the City’s 
representative to the Hazardous Materials Commission, who will be honored at the 
Volunteer Center’s “Be the Difference” awards on October 10. 

Council Member Bottorff provided a brief jet plane noise update in response to recent letters. 
The route has not been moved as recommended but the Federal Aviation Administration is 
studying feasibility, which should take 18 to 24 months. He also asked that the Finance 
Advisory Committee review compensation for the Planning Commission and Architecture 
and Site Review Committee and bring a recommendation to Council.  

Mayor Bertrand reminded the community that the Capitola Beach Festival is this weekend 
and the Plein Air outdoor painting event and sale is the end of October. 

 8. CONSENT CALENDAR 

MOTION: APPROVE OR REJECT AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Sam Storey, Council Member 

SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

AYES: Brooks, Bottorff, Storey, Petersen, Bertrand 

A. Consider the September 12, 2019, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Planning Commission Action Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive minutes.  

C. Liability Claim of Bruce Stamps [Claims Binder] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Reject liability claim. 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

-2
6 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
September 26, 2019 

 

D. Liability Claim of Madeline Chiavetta [Claims Binder] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Reject liability claim. 

E. Approval of City Check Registers Dated August 2, August 7, August 16, August 23 
and August 30, 2019 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 

F. Adopt an Ordinance Amending Capitola Municipal Code Section 2.04.275 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 1032 
amending Capitola Municipal Code Section 2.04.275 pertaining to City Council 
Member salary to provide an adjusted salary of $600 per month for members of the 
City Council, to be effective upon the start of new terms of office following the 
November 2020 General Municipal Election. 

G. Adopt an Ordinance Adding Chapter 18.04 to the Capitola Municipal Code Pertaining 
to Development Agreements 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 1033. 

 9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Consider a Report Regarding Residency Requirements for Planning Commission 
and City Advisory Board Membership 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report and provide direction regarding 
residency requirements for Planning Commission and City advisory bodies. 

 

City Clerk Linda Fridy presented the staff report, noting that there is significant variation 
among the state’s 482 cities in their approaches to Planning Commission membership. 
 
Council Member Petersen confirmed that the nonresident status of a Capitola Planning 
Commissioner was made public prior to appointment. 
 
In public comment, Planning Commissioner Mick Routh said his concerns are not 
personal about a nonresident member but a concern about residency. He said there is a 
universal impression that commission members must be residents. 
 
Peter Wilk, planning commissioner, said he opposes a strict residency requirement. He 
trusts Council judgement and said business owners are also stakeholders. 

Mark Hatcher, resident, appreciates concerns about finding five well-qualified Planning 
Commission members. He supports a balance for legacy projects such as the wharf, 
mall, and Village hotel.  

Stephanie Harlan, resident and former mayor, recalled that nonresidents have been 
allowed on other advisory boards, but does not think it is appropriate for nonresidents to 
serve on the Planning Commission. 

Kathi Howard, resident and former business owner, does not recall any nonresidents 
serving on the Planning Commission but would support a business owner option. 

Council Member Storey said he has no concern that errors were made in the 
appointment of a nonresident, but he does believe there has been a practice of 
residency for the Planning Commission and the Council expressed interest in 2000 to 
codify that requirement. He does not see a reason for requiring residency for the 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

-2
6 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
September 26, 2019 

 

Finance Advisory Committee and not the Planning Commission. He would consider an 
exception for some business members. He would not support a residency requirement 
for all other advisory bodies.  

Council Member Brooks expressed concern about misinformation seen in letters and in 
social media posts regarding this issue. She said she did a lot of research prior to her 
appointment of a nonresident and praised the qualifications of her appointee. Her motion 
to require residency starting after the 2020 election along with future discussion of an 
ethics policy, standards for termination of a planning commission member, and 
development of a robust onboarding process for all new appointees died for lack of a 
second.  

Council Member Bottorff expressed displeasure with how concerns have been 
expressed and feels that the City’s practices must reflect the current times. He does not 
want to discriminate between property owners versus renters, or owners versus 
employees.  

Council Member Petersen said she appreciates the attempt to identify a commitment to 
the City by applicants. She emphasized that the City Council should be held responsible 
for any concerns about the Planning Commission.  

Mayor Bertrand noted the challenge of addressing tradition and including newer 
approaches. 

There was Council support for future discussion of a code of ethics/conduct and options 
to discipline or remove commissioners. 

MOTION: DIRECT STAFF TO COME BACK WITH AN ORDINANCE REQUIRING 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBERS TO BE REGISTERED VOTERS OF 
THE CITY, OR WORK AT LEAST 20 HOURS A WEEK IN THE CITY, OR 
RESIDE IN THE SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AS DEFINED BY THE LOCAL 
AREA FORMATION COMMISSION 

RESULT: DEFEATED [2 TO 3] 

MOVER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen, Vice Mayor 

AYES: Ed Bottorff, Kristen Petersen 

NAYS: Yvette Brooks, Sam Storey, Jacques Bertrand 

 

MOTION: DIRECT STAFF TO COME BACK WITH AN ORDINANCE REQUIRING 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBERS TO RESIDE IN THE CITY OR IN 
THE SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AS DEFINED BY THE LOCAL AREA 
FORMATION COMMISSION 

RESULT: ADOPTED [4-1] 

MOVER: Yvette Brooks, Council Member 

SECONDER: Ed Bottorff, Council Member 

AYES: Yvette Brooks, Ed Bottorff, Kristen Petersen, Jacques Bertrand  

NAYS: Sam Storey 

B. Receive a Presentation from the Monterey Regional Waste Management District to 
Begin Negotiations for a Long-Term Agreement for Disposal and Recycling 
Processing 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Direct staff to negotiate a new Waste Disposal 
Agreement with Monterey Regional Waste Management District for solid waste 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

-2
6 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
September 26, 2019 

 

disposal and recycling processing and to reopen the Refuse, Recycling and Yard 
Waste Services Franchise Agreement with Green Waste Recovery, Inc., to account 
for the new disposal rates. 
 

Public Works Director Steve Jesberg introduced the report with an overview of current 
services along with changes in regulation and recycling demand. Tim Flanagan, general 
manager of Monterey Regional Waste Management District, said the district offers the 
most diversion and best rates within 100 miles. It opened a new facility last year. The 
district was an early adopter of liners for the landfill and methane collection. It runs its 
collection fleet on carbon negative fuel from organic waste. Rate increases are due to 
unfunded state mandates for waste management and tightening recycling markets.  

Council Member Storey asked what citizens can do to help to reduce the waste stream, 
and Mr. Flanagan responded to take care to put waste in the correct bin. He is also open 
to partnering on more public education and considering expanding the phone application 
“Where does it go?” 

There was no public comment. 

MOTION: DIRECT STAFF TO OPEN NEGOTIATIONS AND THE FRANCHISE 
AGREEMENT AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Sam Storey, Council Member 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen, Vice Mayor 

AYES: Brooks, Bottorff, Storey, Petersen, Bertrand 

C. Update on the Capitola Branch Library Project 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report. 

 
Director Jesberg presented the staff report. A change order adding conduit construction 
for utility undergrounding will be brought forward once PG&E finishes the design, which 
began ahead of schedule. Negotiations to recover related costs through errors and 
omissions will resume once that work is complete. 

He presented the contingency expenses to date, the largest of which was the redesign 
to bring construction costs down. There is $651,700 remaining from the original $1.1 
million. 

RESULT: RECEIVE REPORT 

D. Consider Elimination of Art and Cultural Commission Term Limits 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Resolution No. 4158 accepting the Capitola 
Art and Cultural Commission’s recommended changes to the bylaws to remove term 
limits of the commissioners. 

 

Assistant to the City Manager Larry Laurent presented the staff report. He explained the 
commission does not want to lose active, experienced members who oversee key 
projects. 

There was no public comment. 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

-2
6 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
September 26, 2019 

 

MOTION: APPROVE THE RESOLUTION AND AMENDED BYLAWS AS 
RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Yvette Brooks, Council Member 

SECONDER: Sam Storey, Council Member 

AYES: Brooks, Bottorff, Storey, Petersen, Bertrand 

 10. ADJOURNMENT 

 The meeting adjourned at 9:28 p.m. 
 

 

    _____________________________ 
     Jacques Bertrand, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

______________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 

7.A.1

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

-2
6 

d
ra

ft
 m

in
u

te
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Planning Commission Action Minutes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive minutes.  
 
DISCUSSION: Attached for Council review are the action minutes of the October 3, 2019, 
Planning Commission regular meeting.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 10-3-19 Action 
 

Report Prepared By:   Chloe Woodmansee 
 Records Coordinator 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.B

Packet Pg. 15



City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 10/4/2019 9:06 AM  

ACTION MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2019 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioners Christiansen, Newman, Routh, Wilk and Chair Welch were all present.   

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments – none  

C. Commission Comments – none  

D. Staff Comments 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Sep 5, 2019 7:00 PM 
 

MOTION: Approve the minutes.  

 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Edward Newman 

SECONDER: Mick Routh 

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
A. 523 Riverview Drive   #19-0323   APN: 035-042-05 

Coastal Development Permit to replace an existing retaining wall located within 
the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
Note: Request to Continue to November 21, 2019. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Ed Bottorff 
Representative: Ed Bottorff, Filed: 07.11.2019 
 

MOTION: Continue to the special meeting on November 21, 2019.  

7.B.1

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
3-

19
 A

ct
io

n
  (

P
C

 m
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – October 3, 2019 2 
 

RESULT: CONTINUED [NOVEMBER 21, 2019 MEETING] 

MOVER: Peter Wilk 

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen 

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

 
B. 4025 Brommer Street   #19-0343   APN: 034-164-08 

Sign Permit for a new projecting sign, window sign, and directional sign for 
Timberworks located within the C-C (Community Commercial) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Stuart Family Trust 
Representative: Rob Stuart, Filed: 07.22.2019 

 
This item was pulled from the consent calendar and heard immediately.  
 
MOTION: Approve Sign Permit for three signs.  

 

RESULT: APPROVED [3 TO 2] 

MOVER: Mick Routh 

SECONDER: Courtney Christiansen 

AYES: Welch, Routh, Christiansen 

NAYS: Newman, Wilk 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. 1850 41st Avenue   #19-0408   APN: 034-201-44 

Conditional Use Permit for a new retail cannabis business (Apothecarium), Design 
Permit for modifications to the exterior of the existing building, and Sign Permit for a 
new wall sign located within the previous H&R Block office within the C-R (Regional 
Commercial) zoning district.  
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: C. Richard Deane and Marilyn Ardis Deane Revocable Family 
Trust 
Representative: Nielsen Studios, Filed: 08.29.2019 
 

MOTION: Approve the Conditional Use Permit, Design Permit, and Sign Permit with an additional 
condition.   

 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Mick Routh 

SECONDER: Peter Wilk, Commissioner 

AYES: Newman, Welch, Wilk, Routh, Christiansen 

 
B. 4199 Clares Street   #19-0169   APN: 034-222-05 

Tentative Parcel Map and Conditional Use Permit for a two-lot subdivision that 
includes a condominium conversion of an existing duplex, and a Design Permit for a 

7.B.1

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
3-

19
 A

ct
io

n
  (

P
C

 m
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – October 3, 2019 3 
 

new single-family residence toward the front of the property located within the RM-L 
(Residential Multifamily – Low Density) zoning district.  
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Larry Andrews 
Representative: Larry Andrews, Filed: 04.12.2019 
 

This item was deleted from the agenda with the intention of holding a public hearing for the item at the 
next special meeting on October 17, 2019. The item was deleted due to the need for Staff to re-notice the 
application.  

 
C. 1600 49th Avenue   #19-0260   APN: 034-041-26 

Appeal of an administrative denial of a tree removal application for a tree located 
within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Michael & Vickie Oliver 
Representative: Michael & Vickie Oliver, Filed: 05.28.2019 

 
MOTION: Uphold Staff’s administrative denial of the Tree Removal Application.  

 

RESULT: DENIED, VOTE TIED [2 to 2] 

MOVER: Peter Wilk 

SECONDER: Mick Routh 

AYES: Wilk, Routh 

NAYS: Welch, Christiansen 

RECUSED: Ed Newman 

 
With a tied vote the Planning Commission motion failed, and the Community Development Director’s 
denial of the Tree Removal Application was upheld.  

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

8. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Adjourned to the next special meeting of the Planning Commission on October 17, 2019, at 7pm.   

 
 

7.B.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
3-

19
 A

ct
io

n
  (

P
C

 m
in

u
te

s)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  Finance Department 
 
SUBJECT: Approval of City Check Registers Dated September 6, September 13, September 

20 and September 27, 2019.  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers. 
 

Account: City Main 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Payment 

Count 
Amount 

9/06/2019 93644 93692 54 $290,200.27 

9/13/2019 93693 93744 53 $70,671.63 

9/20/2019 93745 93770 29 $143,281.19 

9/27/2019 93771 93855 87 $276,310.36 

The main account check register dated August 30, 2019, ended with check #93643.   
 

Account: Library 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Payment 

Count 
Amount 

9/06/2019 149 149 1 $2,215.54 

9/13/2019 150 150 1 $12,520 

9/27/2019 151 152 2 $576,705.53 

The library account check register dated August 30, 2019, ended with check #148. 
 

Account: Payroll 

Date Starting Check # Ending Check # 
Payment 

Count 
Amount 

9/06/2019 5614 5614 1 $30.63 

9/13/2019 5615 5617 99 $168,558.92 

9/27/2019 5618 5623 97 $169,611.29 

The payroll account check register dated August 30, 2019, ended with check #5613. 
 
Following is a list of payments issued for more than $10,000 and descriptions of the expenditures: 
 

Check Issued to Dept Description Amount 

93656 CSG Consultants Inc. CD 
Interim contract building 

inspections and plan reviews 
$17,555.58 

7.C

Packet Pg. 19



Approval of City Check Registers  
October 24, 2019 
 

93668 Kimley Horn & Associates PW 
Traffic signal adaptive 

control systems service 
$11,971.49 

93687 Tyler Technologies CM 
Annual ERP software 

renewal 
$29,960 

EFT 

826 
IRS FN 

Federal taxes & Medicare 

PPE 8/24/19 
$27,947.45 

EFT 

827 
CalPERS Health Insurance CM September health insurance $62,911.71 

EFT 

828 
CalPERS Member Services CM 

PERS contributions 

PPE 8/24/19 
$53,447.94 

93742 SCC Auditor-Controller PD August citation processing $17,883.50 

150 Bogard Construction PW 
Library construction project 

management services 
$12,520 

93760 Phil Allegri Electric Inc. PW Street light fixture heads $16,841.44 

EFT 

832 
IRS FN 

Federal taxes & Medicare 

PPE 9/7/19 
$28,246.31 

EFT 

834 
CalPERS Member Services CM 

PERS contributions 

PPE 9/7/19 & retro PPE 

8/24/19 

$53,127.31 

93773 American Traffic Solutions PD 
Red light citation processing 

January - June 
$20,041.91 

93802 Kimley Horn and Associates PW 

Brommer St. construction 

documents, data gathering, 

project management 

$15,827.50 

93827 SCC Anti-Crime Team PD 
Anti-crime team operational 

expense 
$17,993 

93830 Santa Cruz Regional 911 PD 
911 regional services 

quarterly contribution 
$151,245.75 

151 John F. Otto Inc. Escrow PW 
August library construction 

retainage 
$28,835.28 

152 Otto Construction Inc. PW 
August library construction 

services 
$547,870.25 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 9/6/19 City Check Register 
2. 9/13/19 City Check Register 
3. 9/20/19 City Check Register 
4. 9/27/19 City Check Register 

 
Report Prepared By:   Maura Herlihy 
 Accountant I 
 

7.C

Packet Pg. 20



Approval of City Check Registers  
October 24, 2019 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.C

Packet Pg. 21



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.1

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/6
/1

9 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.2

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/1
3/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.3

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
0/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.3

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
0/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.3

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
0/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.3

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
0/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.3

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
0/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.3

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
0/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



7.C.4

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

/2
7/

19
 C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  Capitola Police Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider a Resolution Accepting an Alcoholic Beverage Control Grant  
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt a resolution accepting a State of California Department of 

Alcoholic Beverage Control grant for $13,500 to support training and enforcement, and 
authorize amending the Fiscal Year 2019/20 general fund operating budget to increase 
revenues and expenditures by $13,500. 
 
BACKGROUND: Each fiscal year, the State of California Department of Alcoholic Beverage 
Control (ABC) awards grants through its Grant Assistance to Local Law Enforcement Program 
to help local law enforcement agencies reduce alcohol-related crimes through training, 
prevention, community involvement, and enforcement. The Police Department has applied for 
and received several ABC grants over the years, the latest one for Fiscal Year (FY) 2017-18. 
This grant is for FY 2019-20. 
 

DISCUSSION: The Police Department has experienced staffing changes over the past three 

years. In addition, there have been several changes in alcohol licensee ownership, including an 
increase in the number of licensees from 68 in 2017 to the current total of 71. With the help of 
the ABC grant funding received in FY 2017-18, the department provided the education and 
enforcement necessary to prevent a significant increase in alcohol-related offenses during that 
period.  

Staff applied for and was awarded an ABC grant for $13,500 for FY 2019-20 to be used for 
officer overtime, travel expenses, equipment, and supplies to expand efforts in addressing 
underage and adult alcohol-related problems in the community. The grant funds will provide 
the department with resources needed to facilitate outreach efforts and presentations at 
New Brighton Middle School regarding ABC-related laws, alcohol consumption by youth, 
and the effects and consequences of drinking and driving. The additional funds will also 
help the department to continue to increase the education of Capitola businesses and allow 
for increased enforcement of alcohol-related laws.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This will not require additional general fund resources. The funds received 

from this grant must be used for grant-related overtime, travel, equipment, and supplies. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

7.D

Packet Pg. 58



State of California ABC Grant Acceptance  
October 24, 2019 
 

1. 19_20 ABC Approval Letter (PDF) 
2. ABC Grant Budget Amendment (PDF) 

 
Report Prepared By:   Andrew Dally 
 Police Captain 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.D

Packet Pg. 59



State of California ABC Grant Acceptance  
October 24, 2019 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 
 RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 

ACCEPTING A STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE 
CONTROL (ABC) GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $13,500 AND AMENDING THE FISCAL 

YEAR 2019-20 GENERAL FUND OPERATING BUDGET, INCREASING  
BOTH REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES BY $13,500  

 
 WHEREAS, the Capitola Police Department is a recipient of a State of California 
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Grant; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a budget amendment must be enacted before funds can be accepted and 
expended for their intended and legally mandated purposes. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Capitola 
hereby accepts a State of California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Grant for 
$13,500, and authorizes an amendment to the Police Department’s 2019-20 budget by increasing 
both revenues and expenditures by $13,500 as follows: 
 

Category FY 2019-20 Budget Amendment 

ABC Grant Revenue                                           $13,500 

Total Source of Funds                                           $13,500 

  

Use of Funds:  

Overtime                                          $ 13,000 

Supplies                                          $   0 

Training                                          $   500 

Total Use of Funds                                          $ 13,500 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Finance Department shall record these changes 
into the City's accounting records in accordance with appropriate accounting practices. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that these grants will be expended pursuant to the 
conditions of the grant program. 
 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the above and foregoing resolution was passed and adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Capitola at its regular meeting held on the 24th  day of October, 
2019, by the following vote: 
 

AYES: 
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

7.D

Packet Pg. 60



7.D.1

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

9_
20

 A
B

C
 A

p
p

ro
va

l L
et

te
r 

 (
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 A
B

C
 G

ra
n

t 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
)



7.D.2

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

B
C

 G
ra

n
t 

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

 (
S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 A
B

C
 G

ra
n

t 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  Public Works Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Awarding a Contract for the Restriping of 41st Avenue  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Award a contract to Safety Striping Service for $29,975.25 plus a 
20 percent contingency for restriping on 41st Avenue. 
 
BACKGROUND: Included in the Gas Tax Fund is a $40,000 allocation for refreshing street lane 

lines and legends. This funding and work are budgeted annually and staff typically inventories 

existing conditions and makes a recommendation for the work. This year staff is recommending 

refreshing all of the lane lines along 41st Avenue.  

DISCUSSION: Historically the lane lines on some portions 41st Avenue have used buttons, or 

“bot dots,” to mark the lanes. Over time the buttons break loose, making the lane lines hard to 

identify. As part of a 2009 repaving project between Capitola Road and Clares Street, the lane 

lines were transitioned to thermoplastic paint which remains visible even as it fades over the 

years. This project will remove all of the remaining buttons/bot dots and replace them with 

thermoplastic lines, refresh the lines put down in 2009, and add a yellow warning line along the 

medians to highlight them for drivers.  

The City received three bids for this work (Attachment 1). They are summarized below: 

 Safety Striping Service  $29,975.25 
 Sierra Traffic Markings  $38,580.00 
 Chrisp Company   $40,545.00 
 
Staff recommends awarding a contract to Safety Striping Service in the above amount with a 20 
percent contingency to account for variations in the final quantities of work completed. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The Gas Tax Fund is a special revenue fund that the City receives from the 

State from tax revenue from the sale of gasoline and diesel fuel. The funding must be used for 

the maintenance and operation of the City’s street systems. The annual revenue for this fiscal 

year is $279,855. The majority of these funds pay for the maintenance and operation of the 

streetlights, traffic signals, and pedestrian warning lights throughout the City, which typically 

costs $140,000 annually. The remaining funding is allocated for street sweeper costs, 

engineering costs, road and sidewalk improvements and repairs, and painting. This year’s 

allocation for painting is $40,000, which will cover the proposed project. If the all other expenses 

come in on budget, the projected balances will be carried forward. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

7.E

Packet Pg. 63



41st Avenue Striping Contract  
October 24, 2019 
 

1. Striping Bids 
 

Report Prepared By:   Steve Jesberg 
 Public Works Director 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.E

Packet Pg. 64



7.E.1

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

tr
ip

in
g

 B
id

s 
 (

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

tr
ip

in
g

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t)



7.E.1

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

tr
ip

in
g

 B
id

s 
 (

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

tr
ip

in
g

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t)



7.E.1

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

tr
ip

in
g

 B
id

s 
 (

41
st

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

tr
ip

in
g

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Set Appeal of Planning Commission Denial of Tree Removal Permit  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Schedule the appeal hearing for a tree removal permit at 1600 49th 
Ave. for the regular City Council meeting of January 23, 2020. 
 
BACKGROUND: The requirements for tree removal permits are outlined in Capitola Municipal 

Code §12.12.180 and are generally granted administratively if staff can make findings outlined 

in the Code.  Specifically, findings required are that the tree is a safety hazard, it is causing 

unreasonable property damage, or the tree’s health is failing. Staff’s decision can be appealed 

to the Planning Commission, and then to the City Council. Municipal Code §2.52 establishes 

that appeal process. Once an appeal is filed with the City Clerk’s Office and any fees paid, it 

requires the City Council either to hear or schedule the appeal at its next regular meeting. 

  

DISCUSSION: The Planning Commission heard an appeal of the Community Development 

Director’s denial of permit to remove a large coastal redwood at 1600 49th Ave. at its October 3 

meeting. One Commission member was recused due to proximity, and the vote tied at 2-2. 

According to Rosenburg’s Rules, an action requires an affirmative vote, therefore the staff 

decision was upheld, and the permit denied. The applicants then submitted an appeal request to 

the City Clerk’s Office on October 15 (Attachment 1). 

Working with the applicants around pending agenda items and schedules, staff identified 

January 23, 2020, to hold the hearing. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: None. The applicants have given the City a deposit and will pay for staff time 

required to process the appeal.  

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Oliver Appeal to Capitola City Council October 13 2019 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

7.F

Packet Pg. 68



Schedule appeal  
October 24, 2019 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

7.F

Packet Pg. 69



7.F.1

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



resulted in branch failures. How is it possible for anyone to properly evaluate the removal or other 
strategies of trees without having a complete history? We paid Capitola $1,000 to have a tree 
evaluation done that was inadequate due to the process and a poor evaluation that was incomplete 
based upon ISA Tree Hazard Evaluation form (attached). We feel cheated out of that money.  
 
In addition to Capitola’s poor administrative process for tree removal that we believe 
handicapped the arborist from obtaining critical evidence, my wife and I have read James Allen 
letter dated May 2, 2019 and we have some very deep concerns about the letter and conclusions. I will 
attempt to describe what I believe both the registered professional forester (RFP), Mike Jani, and James 
Allen agree to about our redwood and the flaws in Mr. Allen’s letter and conclusions.  
 
Mr. Allen and Mr. Jani are of like mind in the following areas when Mr. Allen in his letter states that: 

The assessment of this tree's condition by Mr. Michael Jani, RPF is accurate: 
 This tree is quite healthy with minor influences of salinity burn do to proximity of ocean 

influences 
 This tree has very large, long limbs due to genetics and excellent cultural growing 

conditions 
 Past pruning; thinning, limb removal and topping along with branch breakage has created 

spaces/voids and opened wind corridors in the tree's canopy resulting in increased branch 
failure potential during strong wind events that are typical "during large winter storms". 
(Quotation marks added by Mr. Allen and not in Mr. Jani report) 

 Branch failures will continue. 
 

This past year our redwood tree had an estimated 18-20 branch failures, twelve of these branches fell to 
the ground immediately while 8 others hung up in the tree. One of these branches was suspended over 
the sidewalk. After the March 13th branch failures I had Lewis Tree Service come out on an emergency call 
to clean up the fallen branches and remove the other 6-8 broken branches in the canopy at a cost of $700. It 
is important to remember that we had pruned and tipped the tree 6 years earlier to prevent branch 
failures. 
 
There is also agreement between the two that branch failures will be expected to continue; though, 
Mr. Allen qualifies this by saying only if proper pruning is not preformed. Unfortunately, this is where most 
agreement ends. Mr. Allen states that: 
 

Mr. Jani inaccurately states that this species is not native to the area and has outgrown the 
neighborhood. 

 
Mr. Jani knows the “natural” habitat of redwoods since he has worked 45 years with redwoods in 
Santa Cruz County, is chief forester over 440,000 acres of redwoods throughout the State and is on 
the California State Board of Forestry appointed by both Governors Brown and Newsom. It doesn’t 
take much research to find the native habitat of coastal redwoods and, in fact, it is well known that 
these redwoods have not populated the marine terrace habitat found in Capitola (See maps (not 
included) of redwood habitat by Charles Sargent (1881), Madison Grant (1919); Griffin and 
Critchfield (1972)). It is important that coastal redwoods have not naturally populated the marine 
terrace in Capitola because it begs the question, Why not?  
 
It seems the reason why redwoods do not naturally occur in Capitola is that: 
 

Although many redwood stands are close to the sea, they do not seem to tolerate ocean winds 
or salts and so do not grow on exposed hillsides that face the ocean. 

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



(https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_fore
sts_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/) 

  
The fact that our redwood was planted in an area that can support incredible growth has added to the 
problem of being exposed to strong coastal winds and salt that results in redwoods failing. During the 
planning commission hearing, Mr. Routh stated he has been walking 49th Ave corridor for decades 
and has noticed the wind tunneling effect up 49th Ave. 
 
Mr. Allen does not include in his letter the impact of past tree topping, pruning and the open canopy caused 
by six-seven branches breaking in the same area when assessing risk; though, he acknowledges that these 
issues increase risk of branch failures. Mr. Jani pointed out that each of these acts (topping done prior 
to our purchasing the house, pruning done by Lewis Tree Service and canopy opening by multiple 
branch failures in same location) creates a situation where branch failure can be expected to 
accelerate. Not one of these issues was dealt with by Mr. Allen specifically; thus, the real risks of 
branch failures caused by past practices and events that CANNOT be undone are completely ignored 
in Mr. Allen’s letter.  
 
That is, how do you restore a 20 foot hole in the middle of a tree canopy that allows winds to 
accelerate and cause further branch failures? 
 
I paid Capitola $1,000 to have an assessment of the tree as a hazard based upon Mr. Jani’s identified issues; 
what I received was an incomplete assessment from Mr. Allen that did not address most of the issues listed 
in ISA’s Tree Hazard Evaluation Form (2nd Edition, see appropriate tree assessment form attached): 

1. Assess the top of the tree and risk of these branches failing because of lack of structural foundation; 
2. Assess the open canopy and the risk of future branch failure caused by the wind increasing 

velocity/force due to tunneling effect; 
3. Assess the enhanced risk of branch failure caused by past pruning of important structural branches 

that has left the remaining branches with weakened points; and 
4. Determine past maintenance or conditions that resulted in branch failure. 

 
It is for the above reasons that Mr. Jani concluded that our redwood tree has outgrown the 
neighborhood. Mr. Allen says Mr. Jani is wrong in this assertion but does nothing in his letter to 
indicate that these specific risks can be mitigated by branch shortening.  
 
Further, Mr. Jani assesses redwood trees for failure all of the time with respect to roads, utility 
lines, buildings, etc. Mr. Jani is MORE qualified about the risks of redwoods than is Mr. Allen, since 
he has managed 100,000’s of acres of redwood trees over decades.  
 
Mr. Allen in his conclusion states: 
 

This tree is in a good state of vigor with long, weighted branches that are prone to continued 
breakage. The supporting roots and trunk appear solid and are not expected to fail in the foreseeable 
future, Branch failures that occurred during January and March of 2019 may have been triggered by 
atypical storm events with strong bursts of high velocity wind that increased the load on the large 
diameter, long branches. Wind load is a dynamic force imposed upon structural components by 
constantly changing pressure, direction and duration of wind events. 

  
It seems apparent to me that Mr. Allen did not fully read our letter submitted in the application to 
remove our redwood and was not allowed to communicate with us so that he understood the wind 

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)

https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_forests_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/)
https://ucanr.edu/sites/forestry/California_forests/http___ucanrorg_sites_forestry_California_forests_Tree_Identification_/Coast_Redwood_Sequoia_sempervirens_198/)


conditions. Our concluding paragraph provides the light wind condition on March 13, 2019 during a 
sunny and warm day. 
 
Mr. Allen’s assertion that these branches failed during “atypical” storm events is neither accurate or a fair 
representation of the events that resulted in five large branches (we have all agreed these are abnormally 
large branches) failed on March 13, 2019. Until someone can ascertain exactly why these five branches 
failed in light wind, there is no way of saying branch shortening will reduce future branch failings.  
 
Furthermore, storm conditions are predicted to get even stronger over the years, not decrease, 
thus, what Mr. Allen termed “atypical” storm events this year may be considered normal or mild in 
the future due to changes in climate.  
 
The branches from this redwood tree came down in “typical” winter storm winds and “atypically” 
light wind. The branches did not fail in “atypically” strong storm winds as Mr. Allen suggests. 
 
It should also be noted that Mr. Allen’s examples of trees that have undergone branch reduction and not 
had branch failures are located 4-5 times further from  the ocean than our house, are protected by more 
structures and trees and will not receive the strong storm winds that our tree does on a coastal bluff. 
Further, these tree examples are not comparable in terms of size or history of branch failure in low winds. 
 
We started this process because after the March 13th event I believed that there was an emergency 
issue due to the number and size of branches that fell during a slight change in wind direction. The 
winds March 13 were not particularly strong; though, they brought down 5 large branches from this 
redwood tree onto my neighbor’s property and over the sidewalk. For everyone’s safety it is time to 
remove this tree that has outgrown the neighborhood in which it was planted. 
 
We feel that City staff accepted Mr. Allen’s letter because of the working relationship that they have with 
him. His letter does not refute any of Mr. Jani’s findings and, in fact, supports all of them with the 
exception of removing the tree for safety. The difference between Mr. Jani and Mr. Allen is that Mr. Jani 
feels that past topping, pruning and recent wind events that opened the canopy make the tree unsafe; 
therefore, decided the best and safest course forward to protect everyone was tree removal. Mr. Allen 
does not provide any evidence that the past events with the tree are NOT going to increase branch 
failure as indicated by Mr. Jani.  
 
Mr. Allen goes to great length to point out the difference in his certification and assumes that just because 
Mr. Jani is not an arborist that he cannot correctly assess risk with trees in which he is extremely 
knowledgeable. In addition, Mr. Allen states that proper maintenance will reduce risk to a tolerable level—
whose risk is at a tolerable level .Certainly not mine, my wife’s, our neighbors or those walking on the 
sidewalk under the tree. 
 
 I can understand why a person that does not live by this tree, does not walk on the sidewalk under the 
overhanging branches, does not have to go on the second story to remove redwood debris 4-6 times a year, 
or does not have house mold related to organic matter (i.e., redwood tree roots) in the crawl space may 
seem comfortable with the proposed remedy. However, I think any prudent individual can also see that 
30 foot long branches falling from a height of 30-80 feet in heavy or light winds may believe that a 
more acceptable solution is tree removal. Two planning commissioners agreed. 
 
It is critical to note that Mr. Allen, and all that deal with risk assessment, always put on a caveat that past 
results (branch shortening) may not predict future events (branches not falling) and nothing short of 
removal will reduce risk to zero. I find this language convenient, vague and, most likely, developed in 

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



response to legal action against arborists that assessed risk incorrectly. If Mr. Allen is so sure of his 
branch shortening strategy, will he accept liability after branch shortening if branches fail and 
harm individuals or property? Will Capitola accept liability for denying a second time the 
application to remove this tree? That is, will Mr. Allen provide analysis about branch shortening that 
asserts it will eliminate future branch failures without adding the caveat of tolerable risk and removal is 
the only remedy that ensures safety? Will Capitola create a policy that assumes risks of trees that they 
deny removal for safety reasons? Will Capitola take over maintenance costs of the redwood tree?  
 
If the answer to these questions is no, then I believe the risk tolerance reverts to the property owner. My 
wife and I are not willing to accept the level of risk that Mr. Allen apparently is. Our neighbors are 
friends and I would feel horrible if something happened to them, their dog or their property 
because we accepted a risk level of “tolerable” when Mr. Jani, who is extremely knowledgeable of 
redwoods, said to remove the tree for safety and liability reasons. 
 
Council members, I have stated our position, rationale, and level of risk tolerance. We ask that you over-
ride the staff recommendation and permit us to remove the tree for safety reasons. Two planning 
commissioners agreed with the tree removal for safety reasons. The fact that two commissioners 
believed the risk of branch failure is too great and the tree should be removed is evidence that 
prudent individuals would remove this tree. I do not feel that I could find a person willing to accept 
the inherent risk and liability of this tree given its history of past failures.  
 
Further, it seems that everything that has been done to our redwood (i.e., topping that was wholly wrong 
but cannot be undone, past pruning that we thought would help, or the branch failures that opened up the 
canopy to future failures) has only hurt it. I do not have faith that shortening every branch, pruning every 
branch to reduce weight, and root undercutting to prevent mold in our house will change the direction of 
interventions; the tree will end up being worse off and more of a risk – not less. 
 
Thank you for your time, patience and deliberation. It is not easy for us to ask you to do this but the tree 
possesses risks to us, our neighbors and those walking beneath this redwood. You represent us as a 
check on government over-reach; this tree is our property, it is unsafe as stated by an extremely 
knowledgeable RPF that works with redwoods, and it is critical that you approve the tree approval 
application for tree removal for safety reasons—regardless of your own beliefs around tree preservation.  
We hope that you understand that we ask for the removal of this tree because we feel the 
responsibility and obligation of protecting our neighbors.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Michael and Vickie Oliver 
1600 49th Ave. 
Capitola, Ca 95010 
  

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



Pictured below is Mr. Oliver on second story of home to remove redwood debris in August 2019. This has 
to be done 4-6 times a year including after winter storms when the roof may still be wet. Just maintaining 
the gutters due to the redwood tree creates a safety issue—over 500,000 people fall off laddresand roofs 
each year. Cleaning gutters requires both climbing ladders and reaching over the roof line. 
 
 

 

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



 
  

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



 

7.F.1

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

liv
er

 A
p

p
ea

l t
o

 C
ap

it
o

la
 C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l O

ct
o

b
er

 1
3 

20
19

  (
S

ch
ed

u
le

 a
p

p
ea

l)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Afterschool Program Scholarships  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

1. Approve a scholarship program for the Recreation Division afterschool program, and  
2. Authorize a budget amendment to allocate $4,000 from the dedicated early childhood 

and youth programs fund, and to accept a $4,000 matching contribution for the 
scholarship program from the Soquel Union Elementary School District. 

 
BACKGROUND: In September 2019, the Recreation Division began a pilot Afterschool Rec 

Club at New Brighton Middle School (formerly the Teen Club). The cost of this program is $12 

per day for residents, which includes those living in the Soquel Union Elementary School District 

(SUESD) boundaries, and $14 per day for nonresidents. Sessions are offered in six- or seven-

week cycles. The cost to enroll depends on the number of days a week a student participates in 

the program and the length of the session.  For example, for three days a week of participation 

in a six-week session the cost is $215 resident/$252 nonresident. 

Research into scholarship processes used by other recreation departments in the County 

showed most use the Federal Income Eligibility Guidelines for free or reduced meals. The 

California Department of Education states that any family who qualifies for CalFresh or 

CalWorks benefits are automatically eligible for free meal benefits. Staff has received public 

inquiries regarding scholarships for the afterschool program. 

 

DISCUSSION: Consistent with other local recreation programs, staff is recommending a 

scholarship application process that utilizes the Federal Income Eligibility Guidelines, or 

CalFresh/CalWorks benefits.  Applicants will self-report their eligibility; there is no proposed 

income verification process. Applicants who qualify will be eligible for a full scholarship minus a 

registration fee. For example, the cost to participate in a six-week session, for three days a 

week, for will drop from $215 to $15. 

Income verification processes are staff intensive.  The City currently contracts with the Housing 

Authority to complete income verifications for affordable housing units. Each verification costs 

approximately $150.  The Friends of Parks and Recreation for Santa Cruz City and the 

California Department of Education use an application process that references the Federal 

guidelines and also does not require proof of income.  

As proposed, applicants must be residents of the City or Soquel Union Elementary School 

District to receive funding. Scholarship applications will be processed on a first-come, first-

8.A

Packet Pg. 78



Afterschool Program Scholarships  
October 24, 2019 
 
served basis and if all the funds are awarded will serve a minimum of 15 percent of participants, 

for each session.  

Staff will review scholarship applications. Those applicants awarded benefits will receive a credit 

applied to their Active Net account. Any award not used after the start of the session will be 

returned to the scholarship fund and awarded to the next qualified applicant.  

Staff recommends allocating $4,000 from the Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) dedicated early 

childhood and youth fund to be used for the remainder of Fiscal Year 2019/20. SUEDS has 

pledged to match $4,000 from its budget to be allocated to this scholarship fund for a total 

scholarship program of $8,000.  

The money allocated for this scholarship will be used specifically for the Afterschool Rec Club 

and no other programs offered by Recreation. As part of the Strategic Plan project, an 

evaluation of the scholarship need for all of Recreation programs will be explored and brought 

before Council at a later date.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: The estimated available balance in the Restricted TOT Early Childhood/ 

Youth Programs fund is $20,000.  Using $4,000 for the scholarship fund will leave a remaining 

available balance of approximately $16,000.  

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Scholarship Application 
2. Afterschool Scholarship Program Budget Amendment 

 
Report Prepared By:   Nikki Bryant LeBlond 
 Recreation Supervisor 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.A

Packet Pg. 79



Capitola Recreation Scholarship Application
4400 Jade Street, Capitola, CA 95010 • 831.475.5935

Zip:

      Child Name:

City:

Secondary Phone:

Parent/Guardian  Name: 

Address:

 Primary Phone: 

Email Address:

Signature: Date:

 Scholarship applications must be submitted 5 working days before the start of registration. Email to: capitolarecreation@ci.capitola.ca.us or
mail to 4400 Jade St. Capitola, CA 95010

 Applications will be reviewed in the order they are received
 Applicants who are awarded benefits will receive full benefits minus the registration fee. The registration fee is the responsibility of the applicant.
 Scholarship applicants must create a Capitola Recreation ActiveNet account  to receive benefits
 Scholarship benefits will be awarded as credit to your ActiveNet account
 Any unused credit will be removed from your account and returned to the scholarship fund a week after the start of the session.

SCHOLARSHIP REQUESTS
Dates of ProgramProgram Title Cost of Program

Including myself, household size: __________ 
Household monthly income: 
$__________________

Household is synonymous with family and means a group 
of related or unrelated individuals who are not residents of 
an institution or boarding house, but who are living as one 
economic unit sharing housing and all significant income 
and expenses.
Based on California Department of Education Income 
eligibility guidelines for reduced price meals and snacks.
 https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu/rs/scales1920.asp

 O  R    I currently receive CalFresh or CalWorks benefits

By signing below, I acknowledge that the information I provided is accurate, true, correct and that my household INCOME IS AT OR LESS THAN the 
income eligibility scale provided, or I currently receive CalFresh or CalWorks benefits.

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

la
rs

h
ip

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
  (

A
ft

er
sc

h
o

o
l P

ro
g

ra
m

 S
ch

o
la

rs
h

ip
s)

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu/rs/scales1920.asp
cmcnair
Rectangle



8.A.2

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

ft
er

sc
h

o
o

l S
ch

o
la

rs
h

ip
 P

ro
g

ra
m

 B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

 (
A

ft
er

sc
h

o
o

l P
ro

g
ra

m
 S

ch
o

la
rs

h
ip

s)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  Community Development 
 
SUBJECT: Introduction of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 15.04 of the Capitola Municipal 

Code Pertaining to Building and Fire Model Codes  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the first reading of an Ordinance amending Municipal Code 
Chapter 15.04 to update building and fire codes reflecting 2020 state standards. 
 
BACKGROUND: The State of California has adopted new editions of the California Building 
Codes, which take effect throughout the state on January 1, 2020.  The proposed Ordinance 
would amend Title 15 of the Municipal Code to adopt the most current version of the California 
Building Codes as required by California Health and Safety Code Section 18541.5. 
 
DISCUSSION: The City of Capitola must amend Title 15 of the Capitola Municipal Code 
approximately every three years to incorporate the most recent editions of building codes that 
have been adopted by the California Building Standards Commission.   
 
Additionally, the Municipal Code will be amended to allow for the use of the International 
Building Codes as an alternative to the California Building Codes, if reviewed and approved by 
the City’s Building Official. 
 
Unlike previous Building Code cycle amendments, there are no significant changes from the 
2016 California Building Codes.  Notable code changes are shown below and a detailed list of 
changes are provided in Attachment 1.  
 

• Modifications related to geologic conditions and concrete floors in residential 
structures; language deleted as current code has language that supersedes. 

• Modifications related to seismic reinforcing and concrete floor moisture 
penetration are deleted as current code has language that supersedes. 

• A new Section is added to clarify language regarding a Seismic Design method 
which was not previously identified. 

 
Central Fire Protection District’s updated code adoption is included as Attachment 2. 
 
Staff recommends the City Council adopt the State Codes as the governing Code to construct a 
structure during this cycle due to the City’s obligation to apply State Building and Fire Codes 
and because the State’s standards are tailored to the geographic, climatic, and topographic 

8.B

Packet Pg. 82



Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment  
October 24, 2019 
 
conditions found in California.  Staff also recommends the City Council adopt any and all 
amendments and errata to the State Codes to retain regional code consistency and long-
standing seismic construction standards which were not included in the most recent state code 
update. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Summary of Building Code Changes (PDF) 
2. 2019 Fire Code (PDF) 

 
Report Prepared By:   Katie Herlihy 
 Community Development Director 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.B

Packet Pg. 83



Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment  
October 24, 2019 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ___ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
AMENDING CHAPTER 15.04 OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE 

PERTAINING TO ADOPTION OF CALIFORNIA BUILDING CODES  

 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  Chapter 15.04 is amended to be titled Building and Fire Codes 

SECTION 2.  Section 15.04.010 of the Capitola Municipal Code is amended to read as follows: 

15.04.010 Adoption of California Building Codes. The City of Capitola adopts the following 
Codes or designated portions thereof: 

A. The California Building Code and appendices, 20162019 edition, which edition 
incorporates the International Building Code, 20152018 edition as published by the 
International Code Council and includes the Historic, Existing Building, and 
International Property Maintenance Codes. 

B. The California Electrical Code, 20162018 edition, which incorporates the 2014 
National Electrical Code as published by the National Fire Protection Association, 
NFPA 70. 

C. The California Mechanical Code, 20162019 edition, which incorporates the 
20152018 Uniform Mechanical Code as published by the Association of 
Plumbing and Mechanical Officials. 

D. The California Plumbing Code, 20162019 edition, which incorporates the 20152018 
edition of the Uniform Plumbing Code. 

E. The California Fire Code, 2019 edition as amended by the Central Fire Protection 
District Fire Code, 2018 edition. 

F. The California Residential Code, 20162019 edition, which incorporates the 
International Residential Code, 20152018 edition. 

G. The 20162019 California Referenced Standards Code. 

H. The California Energy Code, 20162019 edition. 

I. The California Green Building Standards Code, 20162019 edition. 

J. The California Administrative Code, 20162019 edition. 

K. The California Historical Building Code, 20162019 edition. 

L. The California Existing Building Code, 20162019 edition, which incorporates the 
International Existing Building Code, 20152018 edition. 

The International Building Codes may be used as an alternative to the California Codes, when 
submitted, reviewed, and approved by the City’s Building Official. 

SECTION 3.  Section 15.04.050 Modifications to the California Building Code. 

A. The following local geologic conditions justify modifications to California Building 
Standards Code as detailed in subsection B: 

Geological – The region is located in an area of high seismic activities as indicated by 
United States Geological Survey and California Division of Mines and Geology. 
Recent earthquake activities have indicated the lack of flexibility of materials and/or 
building systems has been a contributing factor to damages that reduced the usability 

8.B

Packet Pg. 84



Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment  
October 24, 2019 
 

of buildings, degraded the life-safety of building occupants, and increased the cost of 
rehabilitation of the structures. 

B. The following modifications apply to the California Building Code: 

1805.3.1. Concrete floors in all residential occupancies shall be protected from 
moisture penetration by a bed of at least three inches of clean rock, not less than 
3/8 inch nor more than 1 inch in diameter. Dam proofing consisting of not less than 
10-mil polyethylene with joints lapped not less than 12 inches, a vapor barrier that 
meets or exceeds ASTM E-1745 Standards, or other approved methods or 
materials shall be installed beneath the slab. Joints in the membrane shall be 
lapped and sealed in accordance with the manufacturer's installation instructions. 

Section 1905.1.8. Amends ACI 318 section 22.10.1 of ACI 318 that allows the use 
of plain concrete in residential structures assigned to seismic design category D, E 
or F to read:  

22.10. Plain concrete in structures assigned to seismic design category C, D, E or 
F.  

22.10.1. Structures assigned to Seismic Design Category C, D, E or F shall not 
have elements of structural plain concrete, except as follows:  

(a)  Isolated footings of plain concrete supporting pedestals or columns are 
permitted, provided the projection of the footing beyond the face of the 
supported member does not exceed the footing thickness.  

Exception: In detached one and two-family dwelling three stories or less in 
height, the projection of the footing beyond the face of the supported 
member is permitted to exceed the footing thickness.  

(b)  Plain concrete footing supporting walls are permitted, provided the footings 
have at least two continuous longitudinal reinforcing bars. Bars shall not be 
smaller than No. 4 and shall have a total area of not less than 0.002 times 
the gross cross-sectional area of the footing. A minimum of one bar shall be 
provided at the top and bottom of the footing. Continuity of reinforcement 
shall be provided at corners and intersections.  

Exception: In detached one and two-family dwellings three stores or less in 
height and constructed with stud bearing walls, plain concrete footings with 
at least two continuous longitudinal reinforcing bars not smaller than No. 4 
are permitted to have a total area of less than 0.002 times the gross cross-
sectional area of the footing.  

SECTION 4. The following changes and modifications are hereby made to the California 
Residential Code as referenced below:  

R506.2.3. Concrete floors in all residential occupancies shall be protected from moisture 
penetration by a bed of at least three inches of clean rock, not less than 3/8 inch nor 
more than 1 inch in diameter. Damproofing consisting of not less than 10-mil 
polyethylene with joints lapped not less than 12 inches, a vapor barrier that meets 
or exceeds ASTM E-1745 Standards, or other approved methods or materials shall 
be installed beneath the slab. Joints in the membrane shall be lapped and sealed in 
accordance with the manufacturer's installation instructions. 

R403.1.3. Seismic reinforcing.  

a) Concrete footings located in Seismic Design Categories D0, D1 and D2, as 
established in Table R301.2 (1), shall have minimum reinforcement of at least two 
continuous longitudinal reinforcing bars not smaller than No. 4 bars. Bottom 

8.B

Packet Pg. 85



Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment  
October 24, 2019 
 

reinforcement shall be located a minimum of 3 inches (76 mm) clear from the 
bottom of the footing.  

a) In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1 and D2 where a construction joint is created 
between a concrete footing and a stem wall, a minimum of one No. 4 bar shall be 
installed at not more than 4 feet (1219 mm) on center. The vertical bar shall extend 
to 3 inches (76 mm) clear of the bottom of the footing, have a standard hook and 
extend a minimum of 14 inches (357 mm) into the stem wall.  

a) In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1 and D2 where a grouted masonry stem wall is 
supported on a concrete footing and stem wall, a minimum of one No. 4 bar shall be 
installed at not more than 4 feet (1219 mm) on center. The vertical bar shall extend 
to 3 inches (76 mm) clear of the bottom of the footing and have a standard hook.  

a) In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1 and D2 masonry stem walls without solid 
grout and vertical reinforcing are not permitted.  

Exception: In detached one- and two-family dwellings which are three stories or less in 
height and constructed with stud bearing walls, isolated plain concrete footings 
supporting columns or pedestals are permitted.  

SECTION 3. In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1, and D2, Method GB is not permitted and the 
use of Method PCP is limited to one-story single family dwellings and accessory structures.  

Add the “e” footnote notation in the title of Table R602.10., after the four footnotes 
currently shown, to read:  

TABLE R602.10.1.3(3)a,b,c,d.e 

a) R602.10.4.4. Limits on methods GB and PCP. In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1, 
and D2, Method GB is not permitted for use as intermittent braced wall panels, but 
gypsum board is permitted to be installed when required by this Section to be 
placed on the opposite side of the studs from other types of braced wall panel 
sheathing. In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1, and D2, the use of Method PCP is 
limited to one-story single family dwellings and accessory structures.  

SECTION 45. This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force January 1, 2020. 

 This Ordinance was introduced on the 24th day of October, 2019, and was passed and 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the____ day of November, 2019, by the 
following vote:   

 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

APPROVED:  
 
 
________________________ 

       Jacques Bertrand, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
Linda Fridy, City Clerk 
 
 
 

8.B

Packet Pg. 86



 

 
pg. 1 of 6 

February 20, 2019 
 

SUMMARY OF 2019 CALIFORNIA BUILDING STANDARDS  
CODE CHANGES 

Changes in the 2019 California Building Standards Code (Parts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 10, 11 and 12, 

California Code of Regulations, Title 24) amended by the Division of the State Architect – 

Structural Safety (DSA-SS) provide enhanced clarity and consistency in application. The basis 

for the majority of these changes resulted from California amendments to the 2018 model 

building codes. Part 1, California Administrative Code, became effective January 8, 2019. 

Parts 2, 3, 4, 5, 10, 11 and 12 become effective January 1, 2020. Some of the most significant 

changes include the following:  

Part 1: 
• Clarifies when an addition is required to have a dedicated egress system. 

• Revises project inspector certification examinee eligibility criteria to better recognize 

appropriate qualifying experience and/or education. 

Part 2: 

• Aligns engineering requirements in the building code with major revisions to national 

standards for structural steel and masonry construction, minor revisions to standards 

for wood construction, and support and anchorage requirements of solar panels in 

accordance with industry standards.  

• Clarifies requirements for testing and special inspection of selected building 

materials during construction.  

• Recognizes and clarifies design requirements for buildings within tsunami  

inundation zones. 

Part 4:  

• Increases MERV (Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value) for air filters from 8 to 13. 

Part 11: 

• Requires electric vehicle charging infrastructure for new parking areas and additions to 

existing parking. 

• Sets minimum requirements for use of shade trees to provide shade to surface 

parking areas as well as landscape and hardscape areas. 

Substantial changes reflected in the 2019 California Building Standards Code as 
amended by DSA-SS are as follows: 

  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

20 Feb 2019                    pg. 2 of 6 

Part 1 – California Administrative Code (CAC, Effective January 8, 2019) 

SECTION NOTES 

4-306 Clarifies when an addition is required to have a dedicated egress system for 
the occupants of that addition, independent of the existing building to which it is 
attached.  See DSA BU 19-01. 

4-321 & 
4-324 

Aligns the project filing fee for school buildings, and examples for calculating 
the fee, in accordance with the AB 111, 2017 Budget Bill, which went into effect 
June 27, 2017 by amendment to Education Code sections 17300 and 81133. 
These fees are subject to adjustment per AB 111 which will be published by 
DSA upon modification. 

4-333.1 Changes project inspector examinee candidate eligibility criteria to 
recognize various qualifying experience and education and to improve 
alignment with similar programs (e.g., OSHPD), Removes the Class 4 
examination and incorporates previous Class 4 qualification criteria into 
Class 3 criteria. 

Part 2 – California Building Code (CBC, Effective January 2020) 

CHAPTER  SECTION  NOTES 

1 106.1.1 Revises existing DSA amendment to clarify posting 
requirements for design snow loads at floor levels and roofs. 

2 202 Definitions were removed from Chapters 16, 16A – 26 and 
relocated into Chapter 2.  

15 1502 2018 IBC relocated roof drainage provisions into Section 1502. 

15 1510.7.2.1 Provides additional information regarding seismic and wind 
design requirements for roof top solar panels and references 
new sections added to ASCE 7. Amendment also allows DSA 
to accept industry standards to ensure compliance of solar 
panel attachments after recent solar panel attachment failures. 

16 & 16A 1617 and 
1617A 

Several DSA amendments were eliminated, resulting from 
inclusion of same or equivalent requirements in revised 
masonry reference standards, TMS 402-16 and TMS 602-16. 

16 & 16A 1617.3.1 
& 1605A.1.1 

Adds allowance to use phi = 1 (phi for foundation geotechnical 
capacity at soil-foundation interface as defined in new ASCE 7 
Section 12.13.5 “Strength Design for Foundation Geotechnical 
Capacity”). 

16 & 16A 
 
 
 
 
 
  

1617.7.1 
& 1609A.1.3 

Revises amendment language to clarify the drift limit of single-
story open “structures” (currently “buildings” in 2016 CBC) 
applies only where the structure is used for larger occupancies 
or emergency purposes (Seismic Risk Category III or IV). 

 
 
   

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)

https://www.dgs.ca.gov/-/media/Divisions/DSA/Publications/bulletins/BU_19-01.ashx


 

20 Feb 2019                    pg. 3 of 6 

16 & 16A 1617.9.4 
& 1613A.3 

Adds amendment to note that ballasted PV systems must 
comply with ASCE 7 Section 13.6.12 (new provisions for 
Rooftop Solar Panels). 
 16 & 16A 1617.10 

& 1615A.1 
Adds amendment to clarify how Tsunami Risk Category (TRC) 
will be determined (new Section 1615 added to 2018 IBC and 
new Chapter 6 added to ASCE 7-16 regarding Tsunami 
loads). TRC dictates the level of design and detailing required. 

16 & 16A 1617.11.9 & 
1617A1.10 

Amendment eliminates the prohibition on extreme torsional 
irregularity for very stiff structures where diaphragm span-to-
depth ratio does not exceed 3 and the maximum story drift in 
the direction of the irregularity is less than 10% of the 
allowable story drift.   

16 & 16A 1617.11.15& 
1617A.1.18 

Distinguishes between moveable and mobile equipment; 
mobile equipment anchorage not required when stored in a 
storage room, subject to specified conditions. 

16A 1617A.1.23 For non-structural component anchorage, when Ip=1.5, Ωo 

need not exceed Rp. 

16 & 16A 1617.11.16, 
1617.11.17, 
1617.11.18 
& 1617A.1.24, 
1617A.1.25, 
and 
1617A.1.26 

Provides limitations on maximum support rod length and load 
for non-structural component anchorage. 

17A Tables 
1705A.2.1 and 
1705A.3 

 While the number of changes appears significant, no new 
testing or special inspection requirements occur; changes 
made merely reference existing requirements. 

17A 1705A.2.5 Clarifies qualifications for NDT personnel performing such 
testing on steel connections to align with current industry 
standards.  
 17A 1705A.2.6 Clarifies qualifications for special inspectors of steel high 
strength fastener assemblies to align with current industry 
standards. 

17A 1705A.3.4 Exception language provides clarification of reasonable actual 
field practice of special inspection requirements for prestress or 
posttensioned cables or tendons. 

17A 
 
 
 
 

 

1705A.17 Adds Risk Category II structures to those requiring special 
inspection since DSA project inspectors currently perform these 
special inspections. 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

20 Feb 2019                    pg. 4 of 6 

18A 1810A.3.8.3.3 Amendment removes new exception added to 2018 IBC 
1810.3.8.3.3 item 5 for SDC D, E and F regarding minimum 
transverse reinforcement precast non-prestressed concrete 
piles. 

18A 1810A.3.8.3.4 Adds exception permitting an increase in the prestressed 
concrete pile axial load limit under Ωo E forces. 

18A 1811A.3, 
1812A.2, and 
1812A.4.1 

Updates amendments regarding maximum duration for 
temporary shoring and required corrosion protection and test 
loads in response to/ in order to coordinate with latest issue of 
PTI DC35.1 Recommendations for Prestressed Rock and Soil 
Anchors.    

19A 1903A.8 Clarifies allowance of and requirements associated with 
fusion welding with holding wire often used in reinforcing 
steel cages. Also, provides quality control requirements for 
reinforcing with fusion welded holding wires. 

19 & 19A 1909.4 and 
1908A 

For Shotcrete, most DSA-only amendments adopted in the 
2016 CBC and the July 1, 2018 Supplement are being 
repealed and co-adopted with OSHPD. Recognizes current 
shotcrete references (ACI 506.2-13 and ACI 506R-16). 
Previously adopted significant changes aligning with current 
industry standards include increasing from 3,000 psi to 4,000 
psi minimum shotcrete compressive strength (1909.4.1 and 
1908A.1), modifying surface roughening techniques based on 
environmental considerations (1909.4.4 and 1908A.1), and 
increasing the minimum curing temperature to be maintained 
from 40°F to 50°F (1909.4.6 and 1908A.9). 

21 & 21A  Several DSA amendments were eliminated, resulting from 
inclusion of same or equivalent requirements in revised 
masonry reference standards, TMS 402-16 and TMS 602-16. 

21 & 21A 2115.2 & 
2103A.4 

Allows the sampling and testing of unidentified masonry 
reinforcing bars to match that used for concrete reinforcing 
bars. 

21 & 21A 2104A.1.3.1.2.2 Allows an increase in wall height for low-lift grout method 
for 10” nominal and larger CMU units. 
 21 & 21A 2115.9.1 & 

2106A.1.1 
Relaxes horizontal reinforcing spacing requirements for 
non-bearing non-shear walls, whether interior or exterior. 

22 & 22A  Repeals multiple former DSA amendments where the 2018 
steel standards for seismic design have adopted the same or 
equivalent. 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

20 Feb 2019                    pg. 5 of 6 

22 & 22A 2212 and 
2211A 

Multiple DSA amendments have been relocated and 
references updated to align with 2018 IBC and steel standards 
(AISC and AISI). 

23 2304 Accepts new Cross-Laminated Timber (CLT) requirements 
for gravity and non-lateral resisting elements and systems. 

26 2618 Adopts new 2018 IBC adopted provisions for attachment of 
insulated exterior finishes to wood framing; similar to 
provisions previously adopted for steel framing. 

31   Amends several sections in Chapter 31 to align with the design 
and material chapter requirements for public schools. 
 35  Updates reference standards to current versions. 

Part 3 – California Electrical Code (Effective January 2020) 

CHAPTER SECTION NOTES 

  Adopts the 2017 National Electric Code as the 2019 California 
Electrical Code. DSA carried over previous administrative 
amendments, and did not add any new amendments. 

Part 4 – California Mechanical Code (Effective January 2020) 

CHAPTER SECTION NOTES 

  Adopts the 2018 Uniform Mechanical Code as the 2019 California 
Mechanical Code. DSA carried over previous administrative 
amendments, and did not add any new amendments. 

4 401.2 Adopts the increase to the minimum efficiency reporting value 
(MERV) rating requirements for HVAC filters from 8 to 13 to align 
with the 2019 Energy Efficiency Standards found in Part 6 
California Energy Code promulgated by the California Energy 
Commission   

17 Table 
1701.2 

This Table is new to the 2018 Uniform Mechanical Code and lists 
additional referenced standards, publications, practices and 
guides not referenced in other sections of the code, but are 
permitted to be referenced for the purpose of providing alternative 
materials and methods of construction. 

Part 5 – California Plumbing Code (Effective January 2020) 

CHAPTER SECTION NOTES 

Adopts the 2015 Uniform Plumbing Code as the 2016 
California Mechanical Code. DSA carried over previous 
administrative amendments. 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

20 Feb 2019                    pg. 6 of 6 

17 Table 
1701.2 

Similar to the UMC, this table is new to the 2018 Uniform 
Plumbing Code and lists additional referenced standards, 
publications, practices and guides not referenced in other 
sections of the code, but are permitted to be referenced 
for the purpose of providing alternative materials and 
methods of construction. 

Part 10 – California Existing Building Code (CEBC, Effective January 2020) 

CHAPTER SECTION NOTES 

  Adopts selected sections of 2018 IEBC and carries forward 
existing amendments from the 2016 CEBC with updates to 
corresponding section references in the 2019 California 
Building Code. 

3  Adopts a new non-structural performance level N-D to align with 
ASCE 41-17 which is the updated version adopted into the 2018 
IEBC. Clarifies the non-structural N-D performance level need not 
exceed that for new construction. 

5  Relocates 2016 CEBC Chapter 4: Prescriptive Compliance 
method into Chapter 5 to align with the 2018 IEBC. The 2018 
IEBC moved this chapter and created a new Chapter 4: Repairs, 
which DSA does not adopt since requirements for Repair are 
defined in Part 1, CA Admin Code. 

Part 11 – California Green Building Standards Code (CALGreen, Effective Jan. 2020) 

CHAPTER SECTION NOTES 

5.106 5.106.5.3 Requires electric vehicle charging infrastructure for new parking 
areas and additions to existing parking. 

5.106 5.106.12 Requires shade trees to provide shade to 50% of new surface 
parking areas and additions to surface parking areas within 15 
years, and shade to 20% of landscape areas and hardscape 
areas within 15 years. 

Part 12 – California Reference Standards Code (CRSC, Effective January 2020) 

CHAPTER SECTION NOTES 

12-16-1 12-16-101 Revises Chapter 12-16-1 to adopt current industry standards 
(ASCE) for earthquake-actuated automatic gas shutoff valves. 

12-16-2 12-16-201 Revises Chapter 12-16-2 to adopt current industry standards 
(ASTM and ANSI) for excess flow actuated automatic gas shutoff 
valves. 

 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

Summary of 2019 California Building Code Changes for 
Accessibility in the Triennial Code Cycle 

The following changes in the 2019 California building codes (California Code of 
Regulations, Title 24) amended by the Division of the State Architect become effective 
January 1, 2020. 

• The table includes the amendments in: 
o Chapter 1 – Scope and Administration  
o Chapter 2 – Definitions 
o Chapter 11B – Accessibility to Public Buildings, Public 

Accommodations, Commercial Buildings and Public Housing 

Part 2 - California Building Code – Chapter 1 – Scope and Administration, 
Division I California Administration  

SECTION TITLE NOTES 
1.9.1.1.1 
1.9.1.1.2 
1.9.1.1.3 
1.9.1.1.4 

Section 1.9 
Division of 
the State 
Architect 

Amendments include: 
• Addition of a reference for public housing in Sections 

1.9.1.1.1, 1.9.1.1.2 and 1.9.1.1.3. 
• The language in Section 1.9.1.1.3 was repealed and 

the section was renumbered to 1.9.1.1.4. The original 
language in Section 1.9.1.1.3 was redundant and is 
included in the definition of “public housing”.   

• Section 1.9.1.1.5 was renumbered to Section 1.9.1.1.4.  
 

Part 2 - California Building Code – Chapter 2 – Definitions  
Definition NOTES 
Adult changing 
facility 
 

Definition is added in conjunction with the scoping and technical 
provisions for adult changing facilities.  

Commercial 
place of public 
amusement. 
 

Definition is added in conjunction with the scoping and technical provisions 
for adult changing facilities.  

District 
Agricultural 
Associations 
 

Definition is added in conjunction with the scoping and technical provisions 
for adult changing facilities.  

Riser  
 

The definition of riser was amended to clarify that a riser is 
between landings and adjacent stair treads. The definitions of step 
and tread have been repealed.  
 

 
  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

Part 2 - California Building Code – Chapter 11B  
SECTION TITLE NOTES 
11B-203.8 Residential 

facilities 
The term “public housing” was repealed to align Chapter 
11B with the 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design 
provisions.  

 
11B-206.2.19  Pedestrian 

street 
crossings 
 

This code change restores the scoping for curb ramps at 
street intersections from prior editions of the code.  

11B-207 
11B-207.1 

Accessible 
means of 
egress 
General 

An exception is added to this section to retain the provision 
that DSA currently adopts in Chapter 10 for accessible 
means of egress in existing buildings. The section in 
Chapter 10 is being relocated to the 2018 International 
Existing Building Code that DSA does not adopt.  

 
11B-213 
11B-213.3  

Toilet 
facilities and 
bathing 
facilities 
 

This section is amended to include scoping for the 
locations where transfer type showers are allowed.  

Table 11B-224.2  Guest rooms 
with mobility 
features 

The table is revised to align Chapter 11B with the 2010 
ADA Standards for Accessible Design. Footnotes have 
been added clarify the requirements for bath tubs, transfer 
type showers and roll-in showers.  
 

11B-233.3  
11B-233.1  

Public 
housing 
facilities 
 

The title of this section is amended to repeal the term 
“residential” and replace it with “public housing”. In Section 
111B-233.1 “available for public use” has been repealed.  

11B-233.3.1 
11B-233.3.1.1 
11B-233.3.1.2 
11B-233.3.1.2.4 
11B-233.3.1.2.5 
 

Minimum 
number new 
construction 

The redundant term “public housing” is repealed in these 
sections. In Section 11B-233.3.1.2 a section reference has 
been amended to include Section 11B-233.3.1.2.6. 

11B-233.3 
11B-233.3.3 

Public 
housing 
facilities 
Additions 
 

The redundant term “public housing” is repealed in this 
section. This aligns Chapter 11B with the 2010 ADA 
Standards for Accessible Design. 

 
  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Part 2 - California Building Code – Chapter 11B, continued. 
SECTION TITLE NOTES 
11B-233.3 
11B-233.3.4 
11B-233.3.4.1 
11B-233.3.4.2 
11B-233.3.4.3 
 

Public housing 
facilities 
Alterations 

The term “public housing facility” was repealed in various 
sections to align Chapter 11B with the 2010 ADA 
Standards for Accessible Design provisions. The 
references to dwelling units with adaptable features have 
been repealed in certain sections and the date of March 
13, 1991 has been added to align with the requirements 
in the Fair Housing Accessibility Guidelines. Section 11B-
233.3.4.3 specifies the requirements for the maintenance 
of units with adaptable features constructed on or after 
March 13, 1991.   
 

11B-233.3 
11B-233.3.5 

Public housing 
facilities 

The term “public housing facility” was repealed to align 
Chapter 11B with the 2010 ADA Standards for 
Accessible Design. The reference to units with adaptable 
features is repealed in Section 11B-233.3.5 these types 
of units are not required to meet the dispersion 
provisions.   
 

11B-248 
11B-248.1 
11B-248.2  

Common use 
areas and 
employee 
work areas  
 

Sections 11B-248.1 and 11B-248.2 are added to clarify 
the requirements for access compliance in common use 
and employee work areas.   
 

11B-249 
11B-249.1 
11B-249.1.1 
11B-249.1.2 
 

Adult changing 
facilities 

New scoping section is added for adult changing facilities 
in response to Assembly Bill 662 (2015-2016)/California 
Health and Safety Code §19952.8.  
  

11B-405  
11B-405.9 
11B-405.9.2 
 

Ramps The section is revised to clarify the requirement for ramp 
edge protection to alleviate possible conflicts with the 
2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design.  

11B-502 
11B-502.5 

Parking 
spaces 

An exception is added in this section to allow 80 inches 
of vertical clearance in existing parking structures 
excluding van spaces, access aisles and vehicular routes 
serving them.  
  

  
  

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

Part 2 - California Building Code – Chapter 11B, continued.  
SECTION TITLE NOTES 
11B-608  
11B-608.2.1 

Shower 
compartments 
Transfer type 
showers 
 

The section is amended to that allows transfer type 
shower compartments in Chapter 11B. Scoping is 
included with a reference to Section 11B-213.3.6 for 
specific locations where transfer type shower 
compartments are allowed.  
 

11B-608  
11B-608.3 
11B-608.3.1 
 

Shower 
compartments 
Grab bars 

This section is added to include the technical 
requirements for grab bars in transfer type shower 
compartments.  

11B-608 
11B-608.4 
 

Shower 
compartments 
Seats  

This section is amended to provide the technical 
provision that requires seats in transfer type shower 
compartments.  
 

11B-608 
11B-608.5 
11B-608.5.1 
 

Shower 
compartments 
Controls 

This section is added to include the technical 
requirements for controls in transfer type shower 
compartments.  

11B-608 
11B-608.7 
 

Shower 
compartments 
Thresholds 

This section is amended to for technical provisions with 
an exception for thresholds in transfer type shower 
compartments.  
 

11B-610 
11B-610.3 

Shower 
compartments 
Seats 

This section is amended to provide the technical 
provisions for seats in transfer type shower 
compartments.  
 

11B-812 
11B-812.8 
11B-812.8.7 

Electric vehicle 
charging 
stations 
 

This section is amended to clarify the requirements for 
signs located in circulation paths rather than an 
accessible route.   

11B-813 Adult changing 
facilities 

The entire section is a new addition to Chapter 11B to 
provide the technical provisions for adult changing 
facilities.  

 
 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
B

u
ild

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

1 
 

CENTRAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

 
ORDINANCE NO.  2019-01 

 
An ordinance of the Central Fire Protection District adopting the 2019 edition of the California Fire Code, 
regulating and governing the safeguarding of life and property from fire and explosion hazards arising from 
the storage, handling and use of hazardous substances, materials and devices, and from conditions 
hazardous to life or property in the occupancy of buildings and premises in the Central Fire Protection 
District providing for the issuance of permits and collection of fees therefore; repealing Ordinance 2019-01 
of the Central Fire Protection District and all other ordinances and parts of the ordinances in conflict 
therewith. 
 

PART 1 
The Board of Directors of the Central Fire Protection District does ordain as follows: 
 
That portion of the 2019 California Fire Code that imposes substantially the same requirements as are 
contained in the International Fire Code, 2018 Edition published by the International Code Council and the 
California Building Standards Commission with Errata, together with those portions of the International Fire 
Code, 2018 Edition, including Appendices B, BB, C, CC, I, N and O  as published by the International Code 
Council not included in the California Fire Code, as modified and amended by this ordinance, are adopted 
by this reference into this code, and are hereby collectively declared to be the Fire Code of the Central Fire 
Protection District, in the State of California regulating and governing the safeguarding of life and property 
from fire and explosion hazards arising from the storage, handling and use of hazardous substances, 
materials and devices, and from conditions hazardous to life or property in the occupancy of buildings and 
premises as herein provided; providing for the issuance of permits and collection of fees for same; and 
each and all of the regulations, provisions, penalties, conditions and terms of said Fire Code on file in the 
office of the Central Fire Protection District are hereby referred to, adopted, and made a part hereof, as if 
fully set out in this ordinance, with the additions, insertions, deletions and changes, if any, prescribed in 
Part 2 of this ordinance. 
 

PART 2 
Ordinance No. 2019-01 of the Central Fire Protection District is hereby repealed and replaced with 
Ordinance 2019-01 to read as follows: 
 
California Fire Code Adopted. 
That portion of the 2019 California Fire Code that imposes substantially the same requirements as are 
contained in the International Fire Code, 2018 Edition published by the International Code Council and the 
California Building Standards Commission with errata, together with those portions of the International Fire 
Code, 2018 Edition, including Appendices B, BB, C, CC, I, N and O published by the International Code 
Council not included in the 2019 California Fire Code, as modified and amended by this ordinance, are 
adopted by this reference into code, and are hereby collectively declared to be the Fire Code of the Central 
Fire Protection District for the purpose of regulating and governing the safeguarding of life, property and 
public welfare to a reasonable degree from the hazards of fire, hazardous materials release and explosion 
arising from the storage, use and handling of dangerous and hazardous materials, substances and devices, 
conditions hazardous to life or property in the occupancy and use of buildings and premises, the operation, 
installation, construction, location, safeguarding and maintenance of attendant equipment, the installation 
and maintenance of adequate means of egress not provided for by the building code, and providing for the 
issuance of permits and collection of fees for same. 
 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

2 
 

Section 101.1 is amended – Title. 
 Section 101.1 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows:  
 
101.1 - Title.  These regulations shall be known as the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District, 
hereinafter referred to as “this code.” 
 
Section 102.1 is amended – Construction and design provisions. 
 Section 102.1 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
102.1 - Construction and design provisions.  The construction and design provisions of this code shall 
apply to: 

1.  Structures, facilities and conditions arising after the adoption of this code. 
2.  Existing structures, facilities and conditions not legally in existence at the time of adoption of this 

code. 
3.  Existing structures, facilities and conditions where required in Chapter 11. 
4.  Existing structures, facilities and conditions that, in the opinion of the fire code official, constitute a 

distinct hazard to life or property. 
5. Existing Structures, Alterations and Repairs.  All new work performed in alterations and/or repairs 

to existing structures shall comply with the current provisions of this Chapter.  When alterations 
and/or repairs result in the removal, alteration, modification, replacement and/or repair of fifty 
percent or more of the external walls of a building, or result in the removal, modification, 
replacement and/or repair of fifty percent or more of the existing internal structural and/or non-
structural framework, independently or in combination thereof, within a five year period, the entire 
building shall be made to conform to the current provisions of this chapter.  The determination 
under this section of the requirement for upgrading any existing structure to full conformance with 
current provisions of this Chapter shall be at the sole discretion of the Fire Code Official. 

 
Section 102.9 is amended - Matters not provided for. 

Section 102.9 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 

 
102.9 - Matters not provided for.  Requirements that are essential for the public safety of an existing or 
proposed activity, building or structure, or for the safety of the occupants thereof, which are not specifically 
provided for by this code shall be determined by the fire code official. 
 
The fire chief is authorized to render interpretations of this code and to make and enforce rules, 
supplemental regulations and standards in order to carry out the application and intent of its provisions. 
Such interpretations, rules, regulations and standards shall be in conformance with the intent and purpose 
of this code and shall be available to the public during normal business hours.  Those standards 
promulgated by the Santa Cruz County Fire Chiefs Association shall be deemed as prima facie evidence 
of compliance with this code. 
 
Section 103.5 is added – Law enforcement powers. 

Section 103.5 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
103.5 - Law enforcement powers.  The fire code official and his/her deputies shall have the powers of law 
enforcement officers in performing their duties under this code.  When requested to do so by the fire code 
official, the chief of police or county sheriff of the jurisdiction is authorized to assign such available law 
enforcement as necessary to assist the fire code official with enforcing the provisions of this code. 
  
Section 105.1 is amended – General. 

Section 105 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to read 
as follows: 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

3 
 

 
105.1 - General.  Permits shall be in accordance with Sections 105.1.1. through 105.7.18. or other 
provisions of this code as required by the jurisdiction having authority. 

 
Section 107.2.1 is added – Inspection Requests. 

Section 107.2.1 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code Central Fire Protection District is added to read as 
follows: 

 
107.2.1 – Inspection Requests.  It shall be the duty of the holder of the permit or their duly authorized 
agent to notify the fire code official when work is ready for inspection.  It shall be the duty of the permit 
holder to provide access to and means for inspections of such work that are required by this code. 
 
Section 108.6 is added – Overcrowding. 

Section 107.2.1 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code Central Fire Protection District is added to read as 
follows: 
 
108.6 – Overcrowding.  Overcrowding or admittance of any person beyond the approved capacity of a 
building or a portion thereof shall not be allowed.  The fire code official, on finding any overcrowding 
conditions or obstruction in aisles, passageways or other means of egress, or on finding any condition that 
constitutes a life safety hazard, shall be authorized to cause the event to be stopped until such condition or 
obstruction is corrected. 
 
Section 109.1 is amended - Board of appeals established.  

Section 108.1 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
109.1 - Board of appeals established.  In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or 
determinations made by the fire code official relative to the application and interpretation of this code, there 
shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  The Board of Appeals shall be the Board of Directors 
of the Central Fire Protection District or a sub-committee as appointed by the Board of Directors of the 
Central Fire Protection District.  The fire code official shall be an ex-officio member of said board but shall 
have no vote on any matter before the board.  The board may adopt additional rules of procedure for 
conducting its business and shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a duplicate 
copy to the fire code official. 
 
Section 109.3 is deleted – Qualifications. 

Section 108.3 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is deleted. 
 
Section 109.4 is added – Appeals process. 

Section 108.4 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 

 
109.4.1 - Initiating appeal.  Any beneficially interested party has the right to appeal the order served by 
the fire code official by filing a written "NOTICE OF APPEAL" with the office of the fire code official within 
fourteen (14) days after service of such order.  The notice shall state the order appealed from, the identity 
and mailing address of the appellant, and the specific grounds upon which the appeal is made. 

 
109.4.2 - Stay of order.  The filing of a properly completed notice of appeal shall have the effect of staying 
the implementation of the order appealed from, until the final decision of appeal.   
 

Exception:   Orders affecting acts or conditions which in the opinion of the fire code official, pose 
an immediate threat to life, property, or the environment as a result of panic, fire, explosion, or 
release. 

 
109.4.3 - Hearing of appeal.   Following is the process for establishing and hearing appeals: 

 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

4 
 

1. The Board of Appeals, or the secretary thereof, shall set the matter to be heard at a date within 
thirty days of receipt of such notice of appeal.  Written notice of the time and place set for hearing 
shall be served on the appellant by first class mail to the mailing address given in the notice of 
appeal at least five days prior to the date set for the hearing.  The fire code official shall transmit to 
the Board of Appeals all records related to the appeal.  

2. At the hearing on the appeal, the appellant shall, in the first instance present evidence in support 
of the grounds enumerated in her/his notice of appeal.  The fire code official shall next present 
evidence in support of her/his order.  The appellant and the fire code official shall each have one 
opportunity to rebut the evidence presented by the other.  The hearing shall be de novo in all 
respects. 

 
109.4.4 - Decision of the board of appeals.  Upon hearing the appeal, the Board of Appeals may issue a 
decision affirming, modifying or vacating the order of the fire code official.  The decision shall be in writing 
and shall be served upon the appellant by first class mail to the mailing address given in the notice of 
appeal. 
 
109.4.5 - Time of decision.  The Board of Appeals shall have the power to continue any hearing and may, 
in its discretion, take the appeal under submission.  The Board of Appeals shall render a decision not later 
than the seventh day following the date the matter was taken under submission, and forthwith notify the 
interested parties as previously set forth. 
 
Section 110.4 is amended – Violation penalties. 
 Section 109.4 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows:  
 
110.4 - Violation penalties.  Persons who shall violate a provision of this code or shall fail to comply with 
any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work in violation of the approved 
construction documents, or of a permit or certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be guilty of 
an infraction.   
 
Acts denominated as infractions shall not be punishable by imprisonment.  Every violation determined to 
be an infraction is punishable by: 

 
1.  A fine not exceeding one hundred dollars for a first violation; 
2.  A fine not exceeding two hundred dollars for a second violation of the same provision of this code 

within one year; 
3. A fine not exceeding five hundred dollars for each additional violation of the same provision of this 

code within one year. 
 

A person charged with an infraction shall not be entitled to a trial by jury. A judgment that a person convicted 
of an infraction be punished by fine may also provide for the payment to be made within a specified time or 
in specified installments, contingent upon the person giving his written promise to either pay the fine as 
provided or to appear in court on the due date. Any person who willfully violates any such written promise 
is guilty of a misdemeanor.  
 
Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a separate offense. 
 
Section 110.4.1 is amended – Abatement of violation. 
 Section 110.4.1 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
110.4.1 - Abatement of violation.  In addition to the imposition of the penalties herein described, the fire 
code official is authorized to institute appropriate action to prevent unlawful construction or to restrain, 
correct or abate a violation; or to prevent illegal occupancy of a structure or premises; or to stop an illegal 
act, conduct of business or occupancy of a structure on or about any premises.  Any violation of this code 
shall be deemed a public nuisance pursuant to Santa Cruz County Code Section 1.12.050 and/or the Cen 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

5 
 

Fire Protection District's Fire Code. In the event that a public nuisance is not abated in accordance with the 
fire code official’s order or the order of the Board of Appeals, if any, the fire code official may, upon securing 
approval of the Board of Directors of the Central Fire Protection District, proceed to abate the nuisance by 
force account, contract, or any other method deemed most expedient by the Board. The cost of such 
abatement may be charged to the owner of record or assessed to the property in a manner provided in 
Sections 1.14.040 through 1.14.080 of the County of Santa Cruz Code. 
 
Section 110.4.2 is added – Enforcement. 
 Section 110.4.2 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
110.4.2 - Enforcement.  The fire code official and her/his delegated subordinates, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 836.5 of the Penal Code of the State of California, are hereby authorized to arrest a 
person without a warrant whenever they have reasonable cause to believe that the person has committed 
a violation of any of the provisions of this Code in their presence.   
Upon making such an arrest, the fire code official or her/his delegated subordinate shall prepare a citation 
and release the person arrested pursuant to Section 853.6 of the Penal Code of the State of California, the 
provisions of which are hereby adopted by reference as part of this Section. 
 
Section 112.4 is amended – Failure to comply. 
 Section 112.4 of Chapter 1 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows:  
 
112.4 - Failure to comply.  It is unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to violate or fail to comply with 
any lawful order of the fire code official; fail to comply with an order by the Board of Appeals; or, fail to 
comply with an order of the court of competent jurisdiction within the time fixed therein. Every such violation 
shall be deemed a misdemeanor and shall be punishable by a fine of not more than $500.00 plus court 
assigned fees or by imprisonment not exceeding 1 year in the county jail, or both such fine and 
imprisonment. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of All-Weather Surface. 
 Definition of All-Weather Surface in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the CentralFire 
Protection District is added after Alcohol-Blended Fuels to read as follows:  
 
ALL WEATHER SURFACE.  An all-weather surface shall be a minimum of 6" of compacted Class II base 
rock for grades up to and including 5%, oil and screened for grades up to and including 15%, and asphaltic 
concrete for grades exceeding 15%.  No grade shall be allowed to exceed 16% in State Responsibility Area 
(SRA) or 20% in Local Responsibility Area (LRA). 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Bridge. 
 Definition of Bridge in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is added after Bonfire to read as follows:  
 
BRIDGE.  A bridge shall be defined as a structure designed to carry a roadway over a depression or 
obstacle. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of De Novo. 
 Definition of De Novo in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is added after Deluge System to read as follows:  
 
DE NOVO.  adj. Latin for "anew," which means starting over, as in a trial de novo. For example, a decision 
in a small claims case may be appealed to a local trial court, which may try the case again, de novo. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Fire Chief. 
 Definition of Fire Chief in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is amended to read as follows:  

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

6 
 

 
FIRE CHIEF.  The Chief of the Central Fire Protection District. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Greenhouse. 

Definition of Greenhouse in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is added after Grandstand to read as follows: 
 
GREENHOUSE.  A greenhouse is a structure with walls and roof made chiefly of a non-combustible, 
transparent material, such as glass, in which plants requiring regulated climatic conditions are grown.  
Construction within the greenhouse is also of a non-combustible nature. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Local Responsibility Area (LRA). 

Definition of Local Responsibility Area (LRA) in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the 
Central Fire Protection District is added after Listed to read as follows: 

  
LOCAL RESPONSIBILITY AREA (LRA).  Shall mean lands on which neither the state nor the federal 
government has any legal responsibility for providing fire protection.  Local responsibility areas include 
incorporated cities and cultivated agriculture lands. Local responsibility area fire protection is typically 
provided by city fire departments, fire protection districts, special districts, counties, and by CAL FIRE under 
contract to local government. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Stage. 
 Definition of Stage in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is added after Spraying Space to read as follows: 

 
STAGE.  A space within a building utilized for entertainment or presentations, which includes overhead 
hanging curtains, drops, scenery or stage effects other than lighting and sound.  Stage area shall be 
measured to include the entire performance area and adjacent backstage and support areas not separated 
from the performance area by fire-resistance rated construction.  Stage height shall be measured from the 
lowest point on the stage floor to the highest point of the roof or floor deck above the stage. 

 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of State Responsibility Area (SRA). 

Definition of State Responsibility Area (SRA) in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the 
Central Fire Protection District is added after Standpipe, Types of to read as follows: 

  
STATE RESPONSIBILITY AREA (SRA).  Shall mean lands that are classified by the Board of Forestry 
pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 4125-4127; and the California Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
Division 1.5, Chapter 7, Article 1, Sections 1220-1220.5 where the financial responsibility of preventing and 
suppressing forest fires is primarily the responsibility of the State of California. 
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Turnaround. 

Definition of Turnaround in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is added after Tube Trailer to read as follows:  
 
TURNAROUND.  A roadway, unobstructed by parking, which allows for a safe opposite change of direction 
for emergency equipment.  Maximum grade in all directions may not exceed 5% and maximum distance 
from the structure is 150 feet (45,720 mm) or as approved by the fire code official.  Design of such area 
may be found in Santa Cruz County Fire Prevention Officers Standards.  
 
Section 202 is amended – Definition of Turnout. 

Definition of Turnout in Section 202 of Chapter 2 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District is added after Turnaround to read as follows:  
 
TURNOUT.  A widening in a roadway to allow vehicles to pass.  Design of such area may be found in Santa 
Cruz County Fire Prevention Officers Standards.  
 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

7 
 

Section 304.1.2 is amended - Vegetation. 
 Section 304.1.2 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
304.1.2 - Vegetation.  Weeds, grass, vines or other growth that is capable of being ignited and endangering 
property, shall be cut down and removed by the owner or occupant of the premises.  Vegetation clearance 
requirements in urban-wildland interface areas shall be maintained around and adjacent to buildings and 
structures.  A firebreak shall be made by removing and clearing away, for a distance of not less than 30 
feet on each side of the building or structure or to the property line, whichever is nearer, all flammable 
vegetation or other combustible growth. This does not apply to single specimens of trees or other vegetation 
that is well-pruned and maintained so as to effectively manage fuels and not form a means of rapidly 
transmitting fire from other nearby vegetation to any building or structure.   
 
When required by state law, or local ordinance, rule or regulation, an additional fire protection zone or 
firebreak may be made by removing all brush, flammable vegetation, or combustible growth that is located 
within 100 feet from the building or structure or to the property line. This section does not prevent an 
insurance company that insures a building or structure from requiring the owner of the building or structure 
to maintain a firebreak of more than 100 feet around the building or structure.  Grass and other vegetation 
located more than 30 feet from the building or structure and less than 18 inches in height above the ground 
may be maintained where necessary to stabilize the soil and prevent erosion. This does not apply to single 
specimens of trees or other vegetation that is well-pruned and maintained so as to effectively manage fuels 
and not form a means of rapidly transmitting fire from other nearby vegetation to a dwelling or structure. 
 
Section 305.4 is added – Deliberate or negligent burning. 
 Section 305.4 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
305.4 - Deliberate or negligent burning. It shall be unlawful to deliberately or through negligence set fire 
to or cause the burning of combustible material in such a manner as to endanger the safety of persons or 
property. 
 
Section 307.2 is amended – Permit required. 

Section 307.2 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
307.2 - Permit required.  When required by the fire chief, a permit shall be obtained in accordance with 
Section 105.6 prior to kindling a fire for recognized silvicultural or range or wildlife management practices, 
prevention or control of disease or pests, or a bonfire. Application for such permit shall only be presented 
by and permits issued to the owner of the land upon which the fire is to be kindled. 
 
The open burn season for Santa Cruz County unless otherwise declared shall be December 1st through 
April 30th of the calendar year.  The dates may only be changed by the Monterey Bay Area Unified Air 
Pollution Control District. 
 

Exception:  During the “declared open burn season” (as declared by the Monterey Bay Area Unified 
Air Pollution Control District) pile burning is allowed, at the discretion of the fire chief, when the 
“Guidelines for Pile Burning” (published by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection or 
Monterey Bay Area Unified Air Pollution Control District) are strictly adhered to. 
 

Section 307.2.1 is added – Authorization. 
 Section 307.2.1 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
307.2.1 - Authorization.  Where required by state or local law or regulations, open burning shall only be 
permitted with prior approval from the state or local air and water quality management authority, provided 
that all conditions specified in the authorization are followed. 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

8 
 

 
Section 307.3 is added – Extinguishment authority. 
 Section 307.3 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
307.3 - Extinguishment authority.  The fire code official is authorized to order the extinguishment by the 
permit holder, another person responsible or the fire department of open burning that creates or adds to a 
hazardous or objectionable situation. 
 
Section 307.4 is added - Location. 
 Section 307.4 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
307.4 – Location.  The location for open burning shall not be less than 50 feet from any structure, and 
provisions shall be made to prevent the fire from spreading to within 50 feet of any structure. 
 
Exceptions: 

1. Fires in approved containers that are not less than 15 feet from a structure. 

2. The minimum required distance from a structure shall be 25 feet when the pile size is 3 feet or less 

in diameter and 2 feet or less in height. 

 
Section 307.4.1 is added – Bonfires. 
 Section 307.4.1 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
307.4.1 – Bonfires.  A bonfire shall not be conducted within 50 feet (15240 mm) of a structure or 
combustible material unless the fire is contained in a barbecue pit. Conditions which could cause a fire to 
spread within 50 feet (15240 mm) of a structure shall be eliminated prior to ignition. 
 
Section 307.4.2 is added – Recreational fires. 
 Section 307.4.2 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
307.4.2 – Recreational fires.  Recreational fires shall not be conducted within 25 feet of a structure or 
combustible material. Conditions which could cause a fire to spread within 25 feet of a structure shall be 
eliminated prior to ignition. 
 
Section 307.4.3 is added – Portable outdoor fireplaces. 
 Section 307.4.3 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
307.4.3 – Portable outdoor fireplaces.  Portable outdoor fireplaces shall be used in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s instructions and shall not be operated within 15 feet of a structure or combustible material. 
 
Exception:  

Portable outdoor fireplaces used at one- and two-family dwellings. 
 
Section 307.5 is added - Attendance. 
 Section 307.5 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
307.5 – Attendance.  Open burning; bonfires, recreational fires and use of portable outdoor fireplaces shall 
be constantly attended until the fire is extinguished. A minimum of one portable fire extinguisher complying 
with Section 906 with a minimum 4-A rating or other approved on-site fire – extinguishing equipment, such 
as dirt, sand, water barrel, garden hose or water truck, shall be available for immediate utilization. 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

9 
 

 
Section 308.1.2 is added – Throwing or placing sources of ignition. 
 Section 308.1.2 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
308.1.2 - Throwing or placing sources of ignition. A person shall not throw or place, or cause to be 
thrown or placed, a lighted match, cigar, cigarette, matches, or other flaming or glowing substance or object 
on any surface or article where it can cause an unwanted fire. 
 
Section 308.1.4 is deleted – Open-flame cooking devices. 
 Section 308.1.4 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is hereby 
deleted: 
 
308.1.4 - Open-flame cooking devices.  Charcoal burners and other open-flame cooking devices shall 
not be operated on combustible balconies or within 10 feet of combustible construction. 
 
Exceptions: 

1. One- and two-family dwellings. 

2. Where building, balconies and decks are protected by an automatic sprinkler system. 

3. LP-gas cooking devices having LP-gas container with a water capacity not greater than 2-1/2 

pounds [nominal 1 pound (0.454 kg) LP-gas capacity]. 

Section 308.1.6.3 is added – Sky lanterns. 
 Section 308.1.6.3 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
308.1.6.3 - Sky lanterns. A person shall not release or cause to be released an untethered sky lantern. 
 
Section 308.1.7 is added – Religious ceremonies. 
 Section 308.1.7 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
308.1.7 – Religious ceremonies. When, in the opinion of the fire code official, adequate safeguards have 
been taken, participants in religious ceremonies are allowed to carry hand-held candles. Hand-held candles 
shall not be passed from one person to another while lighted. 
 
Section 311.5 is amended – Placards. 
 Section 311.5 of Chapter 3 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
311.5 – Placards.  When required by the fire code official, any building or structure determined to be unsafe 
pursuant to Section 110 of this code relating to structural or interior hazards shall be marked as required 
by Sections 311.5.1 through 311.5.5. 
 
Section 403.12 is added – Special Requirements for Public Safety.   
 Section 403.12 of Chapter 4 of the Fire Code Central Fire Protection District is added to read as 
follows: 
 
403.12 - Special Requirements for public safety shall be in accordance with Sections 403.12.1 through 
403.12.3.3. 
 

403.12.1 - Fire watch personnel. Where, in the opinion of the fire code official, it is essential for 
public safety in a place of assembly or any other place where people congregate, because of the 
number of persons, or the nature of the performance, exhibition, display, contest or activity, the 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

10 
 

owner, agent or lessee shall provide one or more fire watch personnel, as required and approved.  
Fire watch personnel shall comply with Sections 403.12.1.1 and 403.12.1.2  

 
403.12.1.1 – Duty Times. Fire Watch personnel shall remain on duty while places requiring 
a fire watch are open to the public, or when activity requiring a fire watch is being 
conducted.  

 
 403.12.1.2 – Duties. On-duty fire watch personnel shall have the following responsibilities: 

 
1. Keep diligent watch for fires, obstructions to means of egress and other hazards. 
2. Take prompt measures for remediation of hazards and extinguishment of fire 
that occur. 
3. Take prompt measures to assist in the evacuation of the public from the 
structure. 

 
Section 501.3 is amended – Construction documents. 
 Section 501.3 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
501.3 – Construction documents.  Construction documents for proposed fire apparatus access, location 
of fire lanes, security gates across fire apparatus access roads and construction documents and hydraulic 
calculations for fire hydrant systems shall be submitted to the fire department for review and approval prior 
to construction.  When grading work is needed for the access road(s) within the jurisdiction of Santa Cruz 
County, application for a grading permit shall be made with the Santa Cruz County Planning Department 
pursuant to the Santa Cruz County Grading Ordinance.  Such Permits shall be reviewed by the Santa Cruz 
County Environmental Coordinator as required. 
 
Section 503 is added – Fire Apparatus Access Roads. 
 Section 503 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added and 
amended below. 
 
Section 503.2.1 is amended – Dimensions. 
 Section 503.2.1 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.1 – Dimensions.  Fire Apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed width of not less than 20 
feet (6096 mm), exclusive of shoulders, except for approved security gates in accordance with Section 
503.6, and an unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 15 feet (4572 mm).   
 

Exceptions: 
1. Within the State Responsibility Area (SRA) of Santa Cruz County, all driveways serving two or 

fewer habitable structures shall have an unobstructed width of not less than 12 feet (3658 mm) and 
an unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 15 feet (4572 mm).   

2. Within the Local Responsibility Area (LRA) of Santa Cruz County, access roads shall be a minimum 
of 18 feet (5486 mm) wide for all access roads or driveways serving more than two habitable 
structures, and 12 feet (3658 mm) for an access road or driveway serving two or fewer habitable 
structures.  Where it is environmentally inadvisable to meet these criteria (due to excessive grading, 
tree removal or other environmental impacts), a 12-foot wide all-weather surface access road with 
12-foot wide by 35-foot long turnouts located approximately every 500 feet may be provided with 
the approval of the fire code official. 

3. Vertical clearance may be reduced; provided such reduction does not impair access by fire 
apparatus and approved signs are installed and maintained indicating the established vertical 
clearance when approved by the fire code official. 

 
Section 503.2.1.1 is added – Vegetation clearance along access roads. 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

11 
 

Section 503.2.1.1 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.1.1 – Vegetation clearance along access roads.  Areas within 10 feet (3048 mm) horizontal and 
15 feet (4572 mm) vertical on each side of portions of highways, public and private streets, roads and 
driveways which are ordinarily used for vehicular traffic shall be cleared of flammable vegetation and other 
combustible growth. Design of such area may be found in Santa Cruz County Fire Prevention Officers 
Standards. 
 

Exception:  Single specimens of trees, ornamental shrubbery or cultivated ground cover such as 
green grass, ivy, succulents or similar plants used as ground covers, are exempt provided they do 
not form a means of readily transmitting fire at the discretion of the fire code official.  
 

Section 503.2.3 is amended – Surface. 
Section 503.2.3 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 

read as follows: 
 
503.2.3 - Surface.  An all-weather surface shall be a minimum of 6" of compacted Class II base rock for 
grades up to and including 5%, oil and screened for grades up to and including 15%, and asphaltic concrete 
for grades exceeding 15%.  No grade shall be allowed to exceed 16% in State Responsibility Area (SRA) 
or 20% in Local Responsibility Area (LRA).  
 
Section 503.2.4 is amended – Turning radius. 

Section 503.2.4 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.4 – Turning radius.  In the State Responsibility Area (SRA) no roadway shall have a horizontal inside 
radius of curvature of less than 50 feet and additional surface width of 4 feet shall be added to curves of 
50-100 feet radius; 2 feet to those from 100-200 feet.  In the Local Responsibility Area (LRA) the minimum 
centerline radius shall be 35 feet. 
 
Section 503.2.5.1 is added – New dead-end access roads. 

Section 503.2.5 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.5.1 – New dead-end access roads.  New dead-end roads are prohibited, without secondary access, 
serving more than one parcel in new minor land divisions or subdivisions which exceed the following 
distances from an adequate through road unless approved by the applicable fire protection agency, the 
Department of Public Works, and by the Planning Commission; in no case shall a new dead-end road 
exceed ½ mile in length. 

Urban & Suburban General Plan and LCP Land Use Plan designation 500’ 
Rural General Plan and LCP Land Use Plan designation   1000’ 
Mountain General Plan and LCP Land Use Plan designation  1500’ 

 
Section 503.2.6.1 is added – Width. 
 Section 503.2.6.1 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.6.1 - Width.  All bridges shall be a minimum of 20 feet of clear width.  The fire code official may allow 
the width to be reduced for access to U or R-3 occupancies in accordance with Objective 6.5 – Fire Hazards 
of the Santa Cruz County General Plan. 
 
Section 503.2.6.2 is added – Certification. 
 Section 503.2.6.2 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

12 
 

503.2.6.2 - Certification.  Every private bridge hereafter constructed shall be engineered by a licensed civil 
or structural engineer and approved by the fire code official.  Certification shall be provided by the licensed 
engineer in writing that the bridge complies with the design standard required by this section to the fire code 
official. 
 
Section 503.2.6.3 is added – Recertification. 
 Section 503.2.6.3 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.6.3 - Recertification.  Every private bridge shall be recertified every ten years or whenever deemed 
necessary by the fire code official.  Such recertification shall be in accordance with the requirements of 
503.2.6.2. 
 
Section 503.2.6.4 is added – Existing private bridges. 
 Section 503.2.6.4 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.6.4 - Existing private bridges.   An existing private bridge not conforming to these regulations may 
be required to conform when in the opinion of the fire code official, such repairs are necessary for public 
safety. 
  
Section 503.2.6.5 is added – Fees. 
 Section 503.2.6.5 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.6.5 - Fees.  All fees charged for the purpose of certification or recertification shall be at the owner’s 
expense. 
 
Section 503.2.7 is amended – Grade. 

Section 503.2.7 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
503.2.7 – Grade.  The grade for all roads, streets, private lanes and driveways shall not exceed 16% in 
State Responsibility Area (SRA) and 20% in Local Responsibility Area (LRA).  
 
Section 503.3 is added – Marking. 
 Section 503.3 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
503.3 Marking. Where required by the fire code official, approved signs or other approved notices or 
markings that include the words NO PARKING—FIRE LANE shall be provided for fire apparatus access 
roads to identify such roads or prohibit the obstruction thereof. The means by which fire lanes are 
designated shall be maintained in a clean and legible condition at all times and be replaced or repaired 
when necessary to provide adequate visibility. 
 
Section 503.7 is added – Gates. 
 Section 503.7 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read 
as follows: 
 
503.7 – Gates.  All Gates providing access from a road to a driveway, or within any access road, shall be 
located at least 30 feet from the roadway and shall open to allow a vehicle to stop without obstructing traffic 
on the road.  Gate entrances shall be at least 2 (two) feet wider than the access road being secured, but in 
no case shall the width be less than 14 (fourteen) feet unobstructed horizontal clearance and unobstructed 
vertical clearance of 15 (fifteen) feet.  When gates are to be locked, the installation of a key box or other 
acceptable means for immediate access may be required as in Section 503.6. 
 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

13 
 

Section 505.2 is amended – Street and road signs. 
 Section 505.2 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
505.2 - Street and road signs.  Streets and roads shall be identified with approved signs.  Temporary 
signs shall be installed at each street intersection when construction of new roadways allows passage by 
vehicles.  Signs shall be of an approved size, weather resistant and be maintained until replaced by 
permanent signs.  Posting of any road names and numbers not authorized by the Office of Street Naming 
and Numbering of the County of Santa Cruz, and the fire code official is prohibited. 
 
Section 507.3 is amended – Fire flow.  

Section 507.3 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows: 
 
507.3 – Fire flow.  Fire flow requirements for buildings or portions of buildings and facilities shall be 
determined by an approved method Appendix B, or Appendix BB (for school buildings as scoped in BB 
101.1) 
 
Parcels not within the boundaries of a public or private water purveyor shall have a minimum water supply 
capable of supplying a flow of 500 gallons per minute for 20 minutes (10,000 gallons) for all new fire 
sprinklered (NFPA 13D) dwellings, residential additions in excess of 500 square feet, and other structures 
classified as a residential accessory uses such as garages, storage buildings, barns, etc.. 
 
Privately owned water that is not supplied by a licensed water purveyor shall: 

1. serve no more than two dwellings and no more than 10,000 square feet of habitable dwelling space, 
and; 

2. be provided pursuant to a recorded covenant that runs with the land if the water supply originates 
from another parcel.  If a water purveyor supplies the water, the applicant must submit with the 
building plan written verification from the licensed purveyor that the water supply meets the flow 
requirement.  

 
Exception:  A 2% reduction will be allowed for flow supplied by approved stationary water tanks, 
to account for the nominal standardized capacity of such tanks. 

 
Section 507.5.7 is added – Painting. 
 Section 507.5.7 of Chapter 5 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows: 
 
507.5.7 – Painting.  When required by the fire code official, fire hydrants shall be painted in accordance 
with NFPA 291 and Santa Cruz County Fire Prevention Officers Standards. 
 
CFC Sections 903.1 through 903.2.7.1 are deleted and replaced – Automatic Sprinkler Systems. 
 Sections 903.1 through 903.2.7.1 of Chapter 9 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection 
District are deleted and replaced to read as follows: 
 
903.1 - General.  Automatic sprinkler systems shall comply with this section. 

 
903.1.1 - Alternative protection.  Alternative automatic fire-extinguishing systems complying with Section 
904 shall be permitted in lieu of automatic sprinkler protection where recognized by the applicable standard 
and approved by the fire code official. 
 
903.2 - Where required.  Approved automatic sprinkler systems in new buildings and structures shall be 
provided in the locations described in this section. 
 
903.2.1 - New structures.  An automatic fire sprinkler system shall be provided in all new occupancies as 
defined in Chapter 3 of the California Building Code, regardless of type of construction and/or floor area, 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

14 
 

unless otherwise pre-empted by the California Health and Safety Code.  Any occupancy not specifically 
mentioned shall be included in the group that it most nearly resembles based on the proposed life and fire 
hazard; 
 

Exceptions:   
1. Private garages, carports, sheds not more than 1,000 square feet (93 m2) of total floor area shall 

not require fire sprinklers where they are detached and separate from other structures and provided 
with exterior wall and opening protection as per the California Building Code. 

 
2. Sheds exceeding 1,000 square feet, (93 m2) but not exceeding 3,000 square feet (278 m2) shall 

not require fire sprinklers at the discretion of the fire chief when the applicant demonstrates that the 
applicant’s proposal does not increase the fire hazard or fire load. 

 
3. Agricultural buildings as defined in Appendix Chapter C, of the California Building Code having a 

clear unobstructed side yard exceeding 60 feet (18,280 mm) in all directions, not exceeding 25 feet 
(7620 mm) in height and located within an Agricultural zoned district, as defined in the Santa Cruz 
County Planning Code.  

 
a. Not exceeding 2,000 square feet (186 m2) or as exempted by the fire chief, shall not require 

fire sprinklers.  

b. Exceeding 2,000 square feet (186 m2) but not exceeding 5,000 square feet, shall not require 

fire sprinklers at the discretion of the fire chief when the applicant demonstrates the applicant’s 

proposal does not increase the fire hazard or fire load.  

c. Greenhouses of non-combustible construction shall not require fire sprinklers. 

4. Group B and Group M Occupancies not more than 500 square feet (46.5 m2) shall not require fire 
sprinklers where they are detached and separate from other structures and provided with exterior 
wall and opening protection as per the California Building Code, Table 508.3.3.  

5. For public school state-funded construction projects see CFC Section 903.2.19. 
 

903.2.1.4 - Group R.  An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3 shall be 
provided throughout all buildings with a Group R fire area. 
 

Exceptions: 
1. Existing Group R-3 occupancies converted to Group R-3.1 occupancies not housing bedridden 

clients, not housing non-ambulatory clients above the first floor, and not housing clients above the 
second floor. 

2. Existing Group R-3 occupancies converted to Group R-3.1 occupancies housing only one 
bedridden client and complying with section 425.8.3.3 of the California Building Code. 

3. Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 13113 occupancies housing ambulatory children only, 
none of whom are mentally ill or mentally retarded, and the buildings or portions thereof in which 
such children are housed are not more than two stories in height, and buildings or portions thereof 
housing such children have an automatic fire alarm system activated by approved smoke detectors. 

4. Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 13143.6 occupancies licensed for protective social 
care which house ambulatory clients only, none of whom is a child (under the age of 18 years), or 
who is elderly (65 years of age or over).   
When not used in accordance with Section 504.2 or 506.3 of the California Building Code an 
automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.2 shall be allowed in Group 
R-2.1 occupancies. 

 
903.2.1.5 - Group R-3 congregate residences.  An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance 
with Section 903.3.1.3 shall be permitted in Group R-3 congregate living facilities with 16 or fewer residents. 
 
903.2.1.6 - Care facilities.  An automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.3 
shall be permitted in care facilities with 5 or fewer individuals in a single-family dwelling. 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

15 
 

 
903.2.2 - Existing buildings and structures except for one- and two-family dwellings.  An automatic 
sprinkler system shall be installed in existing buildings and structures, except One- and Two-Family 
Dwellings, after the effective date of this code, when a building permit is issued to allow additions to be 
made, as follows: 

1. For existing buildings less than 6,000 square feet in gross floor area when an addition to the 
building causes the structure to exceed 6,000 square feet, the entire structure shall be provided 
with an automatic sprinkler system. 

2. For existing buildings larger than 6,000 square feet in gross floor area when an addition is equal 
to or greater than 10% of the existing square footage or when extensive renovation or remodeling 
is done to more than 50% of the gross floor area, the entire structure shall be provided with an 
automatic sprinkler system. 

 
For the purposes of this section, extensive renovation or remodeling shall be defined as any change, 
addition or modification in construction or occupancy or structural repair or change in primary function to 
an existing structure made by, on behalf of or for the use of a public accommodation or commercial facility 
that affects or could affect the usability of the building or facility or part thereof. Alterations include, but are 
not limited to, remodeling, renovation, rehabilitation, reconstruction, historic restoration, changes or 
rearrangement of the structural parts or elements, and changes or rearrangement in the plan configuration 
of walls and full-height partitions. 
 
All new work performed in alterations and/or repairs to existing structures shall comply with the current 
provisions of this Chapter.  When alterations and/or repairs result in the removal, alteration, modification, 
replacement and/or repair of fifty percent or more of the external walls of a building, or result in the removal, 
modification, replacement and/or repair of fifty percent or more of the existing internal structural and/or non-
structural framework, independently or in combination thereof, within a five year period, the entire building 
shall be made to conform to the current provisions of this chapter.  The determination under this section of 
the requirement for upgrading any existing structure to full conformance with current provisions of this 
Chapter shall be at the sole discretion of the Fire Code Official. 

 
Exceptions to Section 903.2.2 (1 and 2) 

(a) Group A-2 occupancies exceeding 5,000 square feet shall have an automatic sprinkler 
system installed. 

(b) Group A-5 occupancies exceeding 1,000 square feet in the following areas: concession 
stands, retail areas, press boxes and other accessory use areas shall have an automatic 
sprinkler system installed. 

(c) Assembly occupancies on roofs.  Where an occupied roof has an assembly occupancy 
with an occupant load exceeding 100 for Group A-2 and 300 for other Group A 
occupancies, all floors between the occupied roof and the level of exit discharge shall be 
equipped with an automatic sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 
903.3.1.2. 

Exception: Open Parking garages of Type I or Type II construction. 
(d) Multiple fire areas of Group A-1, A-2, A-3 or A-4 occupancies share exit or exit access 

components and the combined occupant load of these fire areas is 300 or more. 
(e) Group F-1 occupancies exceeding 2,500 square feet used for the manufacture of 

upholstered furniture or mattresses shall have an automatic sprinkler system installed. 
(f) Woodworking operations exceeding 2,500 square feet in area that generate finely divided 

combustible waste or use finely divided combustible materials.  [SFM] A fire wall of less 
than 4-hour fire-resistance rating without openings, or any fire wall with openings, shall not 
be used to establish separate fire areas. 

(g) Group H occupancies shall be provided with an automatic sprinkler system. 
(h) Group I fire areas shall be provided with an automatic sprinkler system. 

  Exceptions: 
(1) Those areas exempted by Section 407.6 of the California Building Code. 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

16 
 

(2) Group I-2 occupancies, or any alterations thereto, located in Type IA construction in 
existence on or before March 4, 1972 as required in California Health and Safety 
Code Section 13113(d). 

(i) Group I-2 occupancies.  An existing, unsprinklered GroupI-2, nurses’ stations open to fire-
resistive exit access corridors shall be protected by an automatic sprinkler system located 
directly above the nurses’ station.  It shall be permitted to connect the automatic sprinkler 
system to the domestic water service. 

(j) Group I-3 Every building, or portion thereof, where inmates or persons are in custody or 
restrained shall be protected by an automatic sprinkler system conforming to NFPA 13.  
The main sprinkler control valve or valves and all other control valves in the system shall 
be locked in the open position and electrically supervised so that at least an audible and 
visual alarm will sound at a constantly attended location when valves are closed.  The 
sprinkler branch piping serving cells may be embedded in the concrete construction. 

(k) Group M occupancy used for the display and sale of upholstered furniture or mattresses 
exceeds 5,000 square feet. 

(l) Group S-1 occupancies used for the storage of commercial motor vehicles where the fire 
area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 

(m) Group S-1 occupancies exceeding 2,500 square feet used for the storage of upholstered 
furniture or mattresses shall have an automatic sprinkler system installed. 

(n) Group S-1 fire areas exceeding 5,000 square feet used for the repair of commercial motor 
vehicles.  

(o) Structures where the area for the storage of tires exceeds 20,000 cubic feet shall be 
equipped throughout with an automatic fire sprinkler system in accordance with Section 
903.3.1.1. 

(p) Group U occupancies exceeding 1,000 square feet shall have an automatic sprinkler 
system installed.  Group U occupancies not exceeding 1,000 square feet are exempt where 
they are detached and separate from other structures and provided with exterior wall and 
opening protection as per the California Building Code. 

(q) Sheds exceeding 1,000 square feet but not exceeding 3,000 square feet shall not require 
fire sprinklers at the discretion of the fire chief when the applicant demonstrates that the 
applicant’s proposal does not increase the fire hazard or fire load. 

(r) Agricultural buildings as defined in Appendix Chapter C, of the California Building Code 

having a clear unobstructed side yard exceeding 60 feet (18,280 mm) in all directions, not 

exceeding 25 feet (7620 mm) in height and located within an Agricultural zoned district, as 

defined in the Santa Cruz County Planning Code.  

i. Not exceeding 2,000 square feet (186 m2) or as exempted by the fire chief, shall 

not require fire sprinklers.  

ii. Exceeding 2,000 square feet (186 m2) but not exceeding 5,000 square feet, shall 

not require fire sprinklers at the discretion of the fire chief when the applicant 

demonstrates the applicant’s proposal does not increase the fire hazard or fire 

load.  

iii. Greenhouses of non-combustible construction shall not require fire sprinklers. 

 
3  Any alteration and/or repair within a building that contains an automatic fire sprinkler system 

requires that the automatic fire sprinkler system be extended/modified to the area of proposed 
work, thus, creating fire sprinkler protection throughout the entire building. 

 
4. Any change in use or occupancy creating a more hazardous fire/life safety condition, as 

determined by the Fire Chief, requires that the entire structure be provided with an automatic 
sprinkler system. 

 
5. Any combination of addition, alteration, repair and/or change of use shall comply with Sections 

903.2.11 through 903.6. 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

17 
 

 
Exceptions to Section 903.2.2:  

(a) Seismic or Accessibility improvements. 
(b) Any exemption otherwise allowable under the Fire Code, if in the discretion of the Fire Chief, 

the safety of the public is not compromised. 
(c) Exterior improvements and work not requiring permits as provided in the Building Code. 
(d) Work requiring only a mechanical, electrical, plumbing and/or demolition permit. 

 
903.2.3 - Existing one- and two-family dwellings. An automatic sprinkler system shall be installed in 
existing one- and two-family dwellings, after the effective date of this code, when a building permit is issued 
to allow additions to be made, as follows: 

1. Any addition is made which increases the total existing square footage by 50% or more. 
2. The proposed total floor area exceeds the available fire flow as specified in Section 507.1 or 

APPENDIX B. 
3. Any addition to a one- or two-family dwelling that contains an automatic fire sprinkler system 

requires that the automatic fire sprinkler system be extended/modified to the area of proposed 
work, thus, creating fire sprinkler protection throughout the entire dwelling. 

Exceptions to Section 903.2.3:  
(a) Additions of 500 square feet or less when the proposed total floor area does not exceed the 

available fire flow are exempt from fire sprinklers unless the dwelling is already protected by a 
fire sprinkler system. 

 
Section 903.3.1.3 is amended – NFPA 13D sprinkler systems. 

Section 903.3.1.3 of Chapter 9 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended 
to read as follows:  
 
903.3.1.3 - NFPA 13D sprinkler systems. Automatic sprinkler systems installed in one and two-family 
dwellings, Group R-3 and R-4 congregate living facilities and townhouses, non-habitable structures 
classified as accessory to a residential use and not intended for commercial usage or mercantile, shall be 
permitted to be installed throughout in accordance with NFPA 13D and installation guidelines as 
promulgated by the Santa Cruz County Fire Chiefs Association. 
 
Section 903.3.7 is amended – Fire department connections. 
 Section 903.3.7 of Chapter 9 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to 
read as follows:  
 
903.3.7 - Fire department connections.  Fire department connections for automatic sprinkler systems 
shall be installed in accordance with Section 912.  Buildings equipped with a fire sprinkler system in 
accordance with this chapter shall have a fire department connection located within 100 feet (183m).  The 
location of the fire department connections shall be approved by the fire code official. 
 

Exception:  Single- and two-family dwellings protected by a fire sprinkler system in accordance 
with Section 903.3.1.3. 

 
Section 1201.4 is added – Alternate power sources. 
 Section 1201.4 of Chapter 12 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to 
read as follows:  
 
1201.4 - Alternate power sources.  All permanent installations of electrical generators, wind generators, 
solar photovoltaic cells, or other power sources shall be approved by the building code official.  In addition 
to all applicable provisions of Title 24 CCR for any such installation, a sign reading:  

 
“WARNING – This premise is provided with an Alternate Power Source.  Disconnection of 
commercial power may not disable the electrical power source”  
 

shall be permanently affixed.  Sign shall be red in color with a minimum of ½” tall contrasting lettering and 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

18 
 

shall be permanently affixed on each electrical panel subject to back-feed from alternate power sources.  
Any and all power disabling switches shall be clearly labeled. 
 
Section 3905.1.3 is amended – Operation 

Section 3905.1.3 of Chapter 39 of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to read as follows:  
 

3905.1.3 – Operation.  Activation of the gas detection system shall result in all of the following: 
 1. Initiation of distinct audible and visual alarm signals in extraction room. 
 2. Deactivation of all heating systems located in the extraction room. 

3. Activation of the mechanical ventilation system, where the system is interlocked with gas 
detection. 
4. For detection levels at or exceeding 25% of the LEL/LFL shall result in the activation of the 
building’s fire alarm system. 

 
Section 5303.5.3 is amended – Securing compressed gas containers, cylinders and tanks. 

Section 5303.5.3 of Chapter 53 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended 
to read as follows:  
 
5303.5.3 - Securing compressed gas containers, cylinders and tanks.  Compressed gas containers, 
cylinders and tanks shall be secured to prevent falling caused by contact, vibration or seismic activity. 
Securing of compressed gas containers, cylinders and tanks shall be by one of the following methods: 

1.  Securing containers, cylinders and tanks to a fixed object with two or more non-combustible 
restraints.  The object used to anchor the restraint to shall be capable of withstanding the 
anticipated load(s) imposed.  Anchor(s) shall be attached to a structural framing member or similar. 

2.  Securing containers, cylinders and tanks on a cart or other mobile device designed for the 
movement of compressed gas containers, cylinders or tanks. 

3.  Nesting of compressed gas containers, cylinders and tanks at container filling or servicing facilities 
or in seller’s warehouses not accessible to the public. Nesting shall be allowed provided the nested 
containers, cylinders or tanks, if dislodged, do not obstruct the required means of egress. 

4.  Securing of compressed gas containers, cylinders and tanks to or within a rack, framework, cabinet 
or similar assembly designed for such use. 

 
Exception: Compressed gas containers, cylinders and tanks in the process of 
examination, filling, transport or servicing.  

 
CHAPTER 56 is amended - EXPLOSIVES AND FIREWORKS. 

Chapter 56 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is amended to read as follows:  
 
5601.1.3 – Fireworks.  The possession, manufacture, storage, sale, handling and use of fireworks are 
prohibited within the Central Fire Protection District. 
 

Exception:  The use of fireworks for fireworks displays, pyrotechnics before a proximate 
audience and pyrotechnic special effects in motion pictures, television, theatrical or group 
entertainment productions as allowed in Title 19, Division 1, Chapter 6 Fireworks reprinted in 
Section 5608 and Health and Safety Code Division 11. 

 
5601.2 – Permit required.  Permits shall be required as set forth in 105.6 and regulated in accordance with 
this Chapter.  Permits for explosives as contained within this chapter, with the exception of display fireworks, 
shall be obtained by the Law Enforcement Agency of Jurisdiction. 
 
5601.2.2 - Sale and retail display.   Persons shall not construct a retail display nor offer for sale explosives, 
explosive materials or fireworks. 
 
CHAPTER 90 is added – SUPPRESSION AND CONTROL OF FIRE IN WILDFIRE RISK AREAS. 

Chapter 90 of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District is added to read as follows: 
 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

19 
 

9001 - SCOPE.  The unrestricted use of grass-, grain-, brush- or forest-covered land in wildfire risk areas 
is a potential menace to life and property from fire and resulting erosion. Safeguards to prevent the 
occurrence of fires and to provide adequate fire-protection facilities to control the spread of fire which might 
be caused by recreational, residential, commercial, industrial or other activities shall be in accordance with 
Chapter 90. 
 
9002 - RESTRICTED ENTRY.  The fire code official shall determine and publicly announce when wildfire 
risk areas shall be closed to entry and when such areas shall again be opened to entry. Entry on and 
occupation of wildfire risk areas, except public roadways, inhabited areas or established trails and camp 
sites which have not been closed during such time when the wildfire risk area is closed to entry, is 
prohibited. 
 

Exceptions: 
1. Residents and owners of private property within wildfire risk areas and their invitees and guests 

going to or being upon their lands. 
2. Entry, in the course of duty, by peace or police officers, and other duly authorized public officers, 

members of a fire department and members of the United States Forest Service. 
 
9003 - TRESPASSING ON POSTED PROPERTY. 
 
9003.1 - General.  When the fire code official determines that a specific area within a wildfire risk area 
presents an exceptional and continuing fire danger because of the density of natural growth, difficulty of 
terrain, proximity to structures or accessibility to the public, such areas shall be closed until changed 
conditions warrant termination of closure. Such areas shall be posted as hereinafter provided. 

 
9003.2 - Signs.  Approved signs prohibiting entry by unauthorized persons and referring to §9002 shall be 
placed on every closed area. 

 
9003.3 - Trespassing.  Entering and remaining within areas closed and posted is prohibited. 

 
Exception:  Owners and occupiers of private or public property within closed and posted areas, 
their guests or invitees, and local, state and federal public officers and their authorized agents 
acting in the course of duty. 

  
9004 - USE OF FIRE ROADS AND FIREBREAKS.  Motorcycles, motor scooters and motor vehicles shall 
not be driven or parked upon, and trespassing is prohibited upon, fire roads or firebreaks beyond the point 
where travel is restricted by a cable, gate or sign, without the permission of the property owners. Vehicles 
shall not be parked in a manner which obstructs the entrance to a fire road or firebreak. 
 

Exception:  Public officers acting within their scope of duty. 
 
Radio and television aerials, guy wires thereto, and other obstructions shall not be installed or maintained 
on fire roads or firebreaks unless located 16 feet (4877 mm) or more above such fire road or firebreak. 
 
9005 - USE OF MOTORCYCLES, MOTOR SCOOTERS AND MOTOR VEHICLES.  Motorcycles, motor 
scooters and motor vehicles shall not be operated within wildfire risk areas, without a permit by the fire code 
official, except upon clearly established public or private roads.  Permission from the property owner shall 
be presented when requesting a permit. 
 
9006 - LIABILITY FOR DAMAGE.  The expenses of fighting fires which result from a violation of this 
chapter shall be a charge against the person whose violation caused the fire.  Damages caused by such 
fires shall constitute a debt of such person and are collectable by the fire code official in the same manner 
as in the case of an obligation under a contract, expressed or implied. 
 

PART 3 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

20 
 

The geographic limits referred to in certain sections of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District 
are hereby established as follows: 
 
Establishment of limits of districts in which storage of flammable or combustible liquids in outside 
aboveground tanks is prohibited.  The limits referred to in Sections 5704.2.9.6.1 and 5706.2.4.4 of the 
Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District in which the storage of Class I flammable liquids or Class 
II combustible liquids in aboveground tanks outside of buildings is restricted are hereby established as the 
incorporated area of the political boundary of the Central Fire Protection District. 

 
 Exceptions:  Such use is allowed in the following zoning districts: 
1.  The storage of Class I flammable liquids or Class II combustible liquids in aboveground tanks 

outside of buildings is allowed in A or A-1 Zones; 
2.  The storage of Class I flammable liquids or Class II combustible liquids in aboveground tanks 

outside of buildings is allowed in M-1, M-2 or M-3 Zones; 
3.  The storage of Class I flammable liquids or Class II combustible liquids in aboveground tanks 

outside of buildings is allowed in NR Zones. 
 
Establishment of limits of districts in which storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary 
containers is to be prohibited.  The limits referred to in Section 5806.2 of the Fire Code of the Central 
Fire Protection District in which storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary containers is prohibited 
are hereby established as the political boundary of the Central Fire Protection District. 

Exceptions: 
1.    The storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary containers is allowed in an M-2 Zone 

with a Conditional Use Permit issued by the Planning Department. 
2.    The storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary containers is allowed in an M-3 Zone. 
 

Establishment of limits for storage of Liquefied Petroleum Gas.  The limits referred to in Section 6104.2 
of the Fire Code of the Central Fire Protection District are hereby limited to a maximum of 2,000 gallons 
water capacity within the political boundary of the Central Fire Protection District. 
 

PART 4 
Ordinance No. 2019-01 of the Central Fire Protection District entitled “2019 Fire Code”, and all other 
ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 
PART 5 

That if any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is, for any reason, held to be 
unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. The 
Board of Directors of the Central Fire Protection District hereby declares that it would have passed this 
ordinance, and each section, subsection, clause or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or 
more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses and phrases be declared unconstitutional. 
 

PART 6 
That nothing in this ordinance or in the Fire Code hereby adopted shall be construed to affect any suit or 
proceeding impending in any court, or any rights acquired, or liability incurred, or any cause or causes of 
action acquired or existing, under any act or ordinance hereby repealed as cited in Part 4 of this ordinance; 
nor shall any just or legal right or remedy of any character be lost, impaired or affected by this ordinance. 
 

PART 7 
That the fire chief of the Central Fire Protection District is hereby ordered and directed to cause a notice of 
this ordinance to be published in a newspaper in general circulation in accordance with Section 6066 of the 
California Government Code. 
 

PART 8 
That this ordinance and the rules, regulations, provisions, requirements, orders and matters established 
and adopted hereby shall take effect and be in full force and effect on January 1, 2020 pursuant to Health 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



ORDINANCE XXXX-XX 
 

21 
 

and Safety Code Section 18941.5.  This Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect until a subsequent 
superseding ordinance becomes effective.  
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 10th day of September, 2019 by the Board of Directors of the Central Fire 
Protection District by the following vote: 
 
YES:    
NOES:    
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:     

 

 

       

President of the Board of Directors 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Secretary of Said Board 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

      

District Council 

 

 
DISTRIBUTION: Board of Supervisors 
 
RATIFIED    
 
DENIED    
 
MODIFIED   
 

this    day of    , 2019, by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Santa Cruz 

by the following vote: 
 

AYES:           SUPERVISORS   

NOES:           SUPERVISORS   

ABSENT:         SUPERVISORS   
 
ABSTAIN:        SUPERVISORS          
        Chairperson of the Board of Supervisors 
 
ATTEST:       

 

      

Clerk of the Board 
 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9 

F
ir

e 
C

o
d

e 
 (

In
tr

o
 O

rd
 B

u
ild

in
g

 a
n

d
 F

ir
e 

M
o

d
el

 C
o

d
e 

A
m

en
d

m
en

t)



 
 
 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  City Manager Department 
 
SUBJECT: Introduce an Ordinance Amending Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 2.12, 

Planning Commission  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the first reading of an ordinance amending section 
2.12.010 regarding Planning Commission membership to require that commissioners reside 
within the City limits or sphere of influence. 
 
BACKGROUND: In 2000, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 823, which included 

repealing language in Capitola Municipal Code Section 2.04.030 requiring residency for “boards 

and commissions” memberships. The November 29, 2000, meeting minutes for the hearing 

where the ordinance was introduced included a request for the City Attorney to return with an 

ordinance or resolution requiring residency for the Planning Commission and Finance Advisory 

Commission. That amendment was never brought forward, although the requirement was later 

added to the Finance Advisory Commission.  

 

DISCUSSION: At its September 26, 2019, meeting, the City Council directed staff to prepare an 

ordinance adding a requirement that Planning Commissioners reside in either the city limits or 

the City’s sphere of influence as defined by the Santa Cruz Local Area Formation Commission. 

Staff has drafted an amendment to Section 2.12.010 to include the residency requirement. 

The introduction of this ordinance was originally scheduled for the meeting of October 10, 2019, 

which was canceled due to PG&E’s public safety power shutoff. Two public comments were 

received as additional materials prior to that meeting and are included as Attachment 1. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  None. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. PC ordinance public comment (PDF) 
 

Report Prepared By:   Linda Fridy 
 City Clerk 
 

8.C

Packet Pg. 118



Planning Commission Residency Ordinance  
October 24, 2019 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.C

Packet Pg. 119



Planning Commission Residency Ordinance  
October 24, 2019 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ____  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AMENDING 
SECTION 2.12.010 OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING PLANNING 

COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP TO REQUIRE THAT COMMISSIONERS RESIDE WITHIN THE 
CITY LIMITS OR SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of Capitola does hereby find that one of the purposes of the 
Planning Commission is to make and advise on decisions that are in the best interests of the 
community of Capitola; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of Capitola does hereby find that many individuals who may reside 
in the sphere of influence of Capitola are invested in the community of Capitola; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of Capitola does hereby find that individuals who reside in the City 
of Capitola or the sphere of influence, as defined by the Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation 
Commission, are best positioned to make decisions that are in the best interests of the 
community of Capitola, 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AS 
FOLLOWS:  
  
Section 1. Section 2.12.010 of the Capitola Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as 
follows (added language is underlined): 
 
2.12.010 Members – Number 
The planning commission of the city shall consist of five members. Those commissioners 
serving at the time of adoption of the ordinance codified in this chapter may continue to serve 
until replaced in the manner provided in this chapter.  All commissioners shall live within the City 
limits of Capitola or within the sphere of influence of Capitola, as defined by the Santa Cruz 
Local Area Formation Commission. 
 
Section 2. COMPLIANCE WITH CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA). 
The City Council hereby finds that the action to adopt this ordinance will not result in any 
change in the environment and thus is not a project subject to the requirements of CEQA.  
 
Section 3. SEVERABILITY. 
The City Council hereby declares every section, paragraph, sentence, cause, and phrase of this 
ordinance is severable. If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance 
is for any reason found to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality 
shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining sections, paragraphs, sentences, 
clauses, or phrases. 
 
Section 4. EFFECTIVE DATE. 
This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from its passage and adoption. 
 
This ordinance was introduced on the 24th day of October, 2019, and was passed and adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the __  day of ______, 2019, by the following vote: 

8.C

Packet Pg. 120



8.C.1

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

C
 o

rd
in

an
ce

 p
u

b
lic

 c
o

m
m

en
t 

 (
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

es
id

en
cy

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



8.C.1

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

C
 o

rd
in

an
ce

 p
u

b
lic

 c
o

m
m

en
t 

 (
P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

es
id

en
cy

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  Community Development 
 
SUBJECT: Approve the Sole-Source Contract for CSG Consultants for On-Call Building 

Division Contract Services  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve a sole-source contract for on-call Building Division 
contract services with CSG Consultants in an amount not to exceed $61,300 for Fiscal Year 
2019/20 and $39,600 for fiscal year 2020/21 and a budget amendment for fiscal year 2019/20 in 
the amount of $78,300. 
 
BACKGROUND: Prior to 2018, the Building Division included two full-time positions, including 
one building official and one building inspector. Under this structure, the majority of building plan 
checks were done in-house with the exception of projects requiring special engineering review 
and larger commercial plans.  
 
In 2018, the building division was restructured to one part-time building official, one full-time 
building inspector, and one full-time development service technician with half of the time 
dedicated to affordable housing administration. In summer 2019, the amount of building plan 
checks done in-house decreased substantially due to turnover within the building inspector 
position and the part-time schedule of the building official.  
 
To maintain a high level of service, plan check has been contracted through a third party, CSG 
Consultants. The City Manager initially approved a contract of $25,000 during the recruitment 
for a new building inspector. As of October 1, there is $1,399 remaining in the contract for 
building plan reviews; however, staff recently received an invoice for September building plan 
review for $4,254. It should be noted that approximately $11,100 of costs incurred in Fiscal Year 
(FY) 2019/20 are for plan reviews in which revenue was received in FY 2018/19. 
 
DISCUSSION: Although now fully staffed, the Building Division will continue to need consultant 
services for building plan review due the part-time status of the building official and training of 
new staff. Additionally, assistance in the division during scheduled training and time off is 
necessary to maintain the current level of service for building inspections. Both building plan 
review and building inspections are contemplated in the contract.  
 
In the first quarter of FY 2019/20 fiscal year, the city incurred $16,742 in plan review fees. For 
the remainder of FY 2019/20 staff expects this trend to decrease with more building plan review 
completed in-house beginning in 2020. This trend should continue to improve in 2021 with 
increased training of the new building inspector. To cover the gap, staff anticipates plan review 
fees of $50,000 for the remainder of FY 2019/20 and $28,000 for FY 2020/21.  

8.D

Packet Pg. 123



CSG Contract for Building Plan review  
October 24, 2019 
 
 
Staff also anticipates contracting a building inspector up to 60 hours per fiscal year to cover 
building inspections during planned time-off for training and vacations. The cost for that 
additional service is $6,300 for the remainder of FY 2019/2020 and $6,600 for FY 2020/2021. 
 
The assumptions built into the estimates for building permit fees is based on recent trends in 
building permit submittals. Staff has built in $5,000 per year to cover engineering review and an 
increase in permit volume. In total, the contract will include a not-to-exceed amount of $61,300 
for the 2019/2020 fiscal year and $39,600 for the 2020/2021 fiscal year. 
 

Scope Cost 

September 2019 – June 2020  

Plan Review  50,000 

Building Inspector: 60 hours (105/hr) 
 

6,300 

Engineering review/Increase permits 5,000 

Total 61,300 

Fiscal Year 2020/2021  

Plan Review 28,000.00 

Building Inspector 
60 hours (105/hr) 

6,600.00 

Engineering review/Increase permits 5,000 

Total 39,600 

 
 
Staff is recommending a sole-source contract with CSG Consultants due to their knowledge of 
the Capitola Building Division processes and procedures.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The contract building plan review is a revenue source for the Building Division 
based on the valuation of projects. CSG Consultants charges the industry standard of 65 
percent of the building plan fee.  
 
For the 2019/2020 fiscal year, the budget for third-party building plan review was approved at 
$8,000. A budget amendment is necessary to account for the July 2019 contract of $25,000 and 
the proposed contract of $61,300. In total, the third-party building plan review budget needs to 
be amended by $78,300 to account for all unanticipated costs. This will be partially offset with 
administrative fees associated with administration of contracts related to the redevelopment of 
the Capitola Mall. 
 

Approved Budget $8,000 

  

Budget Amendment  

8.D

Packet Pg. 124



CSG Contract for Building Plan review  
October 24, 2019 
 

CSG July 2019 Contract at $25,000 $17,000 ($25,000 – $8,000) 

Proposed CSG Contract for remainder of the fiscal year  $61,300 

Total Budget Amendment $78,300 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. CSG Consultants - Fixed Fee Contract - 10.25.2019 
2. CSG FY 19-20  20-21 Fee Schedule 
3. CSG Contract Budget Amendment 
4. CSG Sole Source Vendor 

 
Report Prepared By:   Katie Herlihy 
 Community Development Director 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.D

Packet Pg. 125



CITY OF CAPITOLA 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Building Consulting Services 
CSG Consultants 

 
  
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into on October 25, 2019, by and between the City of Capitola, a 

Municipal Corporation, hereinafter called "City" and CSG Consultants, Inc., hereinafter called "Consultant". 
 

WHEREAS, City desires certain services described in Appendix One and Consultant is capable of 
providing and desires to provide these services; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, City and Consultant for the consideration and upon the terms and conditions 
hereinafter specified agree as follows: 
 

SECTION 1 
Scope of Services 

 
 The services to be performed under this Agreement are for Building Consultant and further detailed 
in Appendix One. 
 

SECTION 2 
Duties of Consultant 

 
 All work performed by Consultant, or under its direction, shall be sufficient to satisfy the City's 
objectives for entering into this Agreement and shall be rendered in accordance with the generally accepted 
practices, and to the standards of, Consultant's profession. 
 
 Consultant shall not undertake any work beyond the scope of work set forth in Appendix One unless 
such additional work is approved in advance and in writing by City.  The cost of such additional work shall 
be reimbursed to Consultant by City on the same basis as provided for in Section 4. 
 
 If, in the prosecution of the work, it is necessary to conduct field operations, security and safety of 
the job site will be the Consultant's responsibility excluding, nevertheless, the security and safety of any 
facility of City within the job site which is not under the Consultant's control. 
 
 Consultant shall meet with Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director, called “Director," or 
other City personnel, or third parties as necessary, on all matters connected with carrying out of 
Consultant's services described in Appendix One.  Such meetings shall be held at the request of either 
party hereto.  Review and City approval of completed work shall be obtained monthly, or at such intervals 
as may be mutually agreed upon, during the course of this work. 

 
SECTION 3 

Duties of the City 
 
 City shall make available to Consultant all data and information in the City's possession which City 
deems necessary to the preparation and execution of the work, and City shall actively aid and assist 
Consultant in obtaining such information from other agencies and individuals as necessary. 
 
 The Director may authorize a staff person to serve as his or her representative for conferring with 
Consultant relative to Consultant's services.  The work in progress hereunder shall be reviewed from time 
to time by City at the discretion of City or upon the request of Consultant.  If the work is satisfactory, it will 
be approved.  If the work is not satisfactory, City will inform Consultant of the changes or revisions 
necessary to secure approval. 
 

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 2 
 

  

SECTION 4 
Fees and Payment 

 
 Payment for the Consultant's services shall be made upon a schedule and within the limit, or limits 
shown, upon Appendix Two. Such payment shall be considered the full compensation for all personnel, 
materials, supplies, and equipment used by Consultant in carrying out the work.  If Consultant is 
compensated on an hourly basis, Consultant shall track the number of hours Consultant, and each of 
Consultant’s employees, has worked under this Agreement during each fiscal year (July 1 through June 
30) and Consultant shall immediately notify City if the number of hours worked during any fiscal year by 
any of Consultant’s employees reaches 900 hours.  In addition, each invoice submitted by Consultant to 
City shall specify the number of hours to date Consultant, and each of Consultant’s employees, has worked 
under this Agreement during the current fiscal year. 
 

SECTION 5 
Changes in Work 

 
 City may order major changes in scope or character of the work, either decreasing or increasing 
the scope of Consultant's services.  No changes in the Scope of Work as described in Appendix One shall 
be made without the City's written approval.  Any change requiring compensation in excess of the sum 
specified in Appendix Two shall be approved in advance in writing by the City. 
 

SECTION 6 
Time of Beginning and Schedule for Completion 

 
 This Agreement will become effective when signed by both parties and will terminate on the earlier 
of: 
 

⚫ The date Consultant completes the services required by this Agreement, as agreed by the City; or 
 

⚫ The date either party terminates the Agreement as provided below. 
 
Work shall begin on or about October 25, 2019. 
 
 In the event that major changes are ordered or Consultant is delayed in performance of its services 
by circumstances beyond its control, the City will grant Consultant a reasonable adjustment in the schedule 
for completion provided that to do so would not frustrate the City's objective for entering into this Agreement.  
Consultant must submit all claims for adjustments to City within thirty calendar days of the time of 
occurrence of circumstances necessitating the adjustment. 
 

SECTION 7 
Termination 

 
 City shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time upon giving ten days written notice 
to Consultant.  Consultant may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to City should the City fail to 
fulfill its duties as set forth in this Agreement.  In the event of termination, City shall pay the Consultant for 
all services performed and accepted under this Agreement up to the date of termination. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 3 
 

  

SECTION 8 
Insurance 

 
 Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract and for two years thereafter, 
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in 
connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, his agents, representatives, or 
employees.  
 
Minimum Scope of Insurance 
 
Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 
 
 1. Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability coverage 
 (Occurrence Form CG 0001). 
 
 2. Insurance Services office Form Number CA 0001 covering Automobile Liability,  
  Code 1 (any auto). 
 
 3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, and Employer’s 
  Liability Insurance. 
 
 4. Professional (Errors and Omissions) Liability insurance appropriate to the consultant’s  

 profession.  Architects’ and engineers’ coverage shall include contractual liability. 
 
Minimum Limits of Insurance 
 
Consultant shall maintain limits no less than: 
 

1. General Liability: 
(including operations, 
products and completed 
operations) 
 

$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in 
aggregate (including operations, for bodily injury, 
personal and property damage. 

2. Automobile Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and 
property damage. 
 
 

3. 
 
 
 
4.   

Employer’s Liability Insurance 
 
 
 
Errors and Omissions 
Liability:  
Limits 
 

$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and 
property damage. 
 
 
$1,000,000 per claim and $2,000,000 in the 
aggregate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 4 
 

  

Other Insurance Provisions 
 
The commercial general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, 
the following provisions: 
 

1. The City of Capitola, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered 
as additional insured’s as respects:  liability arising out of work or operations performed 
by or on behalf of the Consultant or automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by 
the Consultant. 

2. For any claims related to this project, the Consultant’s insurance coverage shall be 
primary insurance as respects the City, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers.  
Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officers, officials, employees 
or volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with 
it. 

3. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that coverage 
shall not be canceled except after prior written notice has been given to the City. 

 
Acceptability of Insurers 
 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless 
otherwise acceptable to the City. 
 
Waiver of Subrogation  
 
Contractor hereby agrees to waive rights of subrogation which any insurer of Contractor may acquire 
from Contractor by virtue of the payment of any loss. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that 
may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation. The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be 
endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in favor of the City of Capitola for all work performed by the 
Contractor, its employees, agents and subcontractors. 
 
 
Verification of Coverage 
 
Consultant shall furnish the City with original certificates and amendatory endorsements affecting coverage 
by this clause.  The endorsements should be on forms provided by the City or on other than the City’s 
forms provided those endorsements conform to City requirements.  All certificates and endorsements are 
to be received and approved by the City before work commences.  The City reserves the right to require 
complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage 
required by these specifications at any time.  
 

SECTION 9 
Indemnification 

 
For General Services: To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant agrees to indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the City, its directors, officers, employees from and against any and all claims, demands, 
actions, liabilities, damages, judgments, or expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs) arising from the 
acts or omissions of Consultant’s employees or agents in any way related to the obligations or in the 
performance of services under this Agreement, except for design professional services as defined in Civil 
Code § 2782.8, and except where caused by the sole or active negligence, or willful misconduct of the City. 
 
For Design Professional Services under Civil Code §2782.8: To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
Consultant agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its directors, officers, and employees 

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 5 
 

  

from and against any and all claims, demands, actions, liabilities, damages, or expenses (including 
attorneys’ fees and costs) arising from the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
Consultant, Consultant’s employees, or agents in any way related to the obligations or in the performance 
of design professional services under this Agreement as defined in Civil Code §2782.8, except where 
caused by the sole or active negligence, or willful misconduct of the City. The costs to defend charged to 
the Consultant relating to design professional services shall not exceed the Consultant’s proportionate 
percentage of fault per Civil Code §2782.8.and against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses 
including attorney fees arising out of the performance of the work described herein, caused in whole or in 
part by any negligent act or omission of the Consultant, Consultant’s employees, agents or subcontractors, 
except where caused by the active negligence, sole negligence, or willful misconduct of the City. 
 
  

SECTION 10 
Civil Rights Compliance/Equal Opportunity Assurance 

 
 Every supplier of materials and services and all consultants doing business with the City of Capitola 
shall be in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and 
shall be an equal opportunity employer as defined by Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and including 
the California Fair Employment and Housing Act of 1980.  As such, consultant shall not discriminate against 
any person on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, disability, medical 
condition, marital status, age or sex with respect to hiring, application for employment, tenure or terms and 
conditions of employment.  Consultant agrees to abide by all of the foregoing statutes and regulations. 
 

SECTION 11 
Legal Action/Attorneys' Fees 

 
 If any action at law or in equity is brought to enforce or interpret the provisions of this Agreement, 
the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees in addition to any other relief to which he 
or she may be entitled.  The laws of the State of California shall govern all matters relating to the validity, 
interpretation, and effect of this Agreement and any authorized or alleged changes, the performance of 
any of its terms, as well as the rights and obligations of Consultant and the City. 

 
SECTION 12 
Assignment 

 
 This Agreement shall not be assigned without first obtaining the express written consent of the 
Director after approval of the City Council. 
 

SECTION 13 
Amendments 

 
 This Agreement may not be amended in any respect except by way of a written instrument which 
expressly references and identifies this particular Agreement, which expressly states that its purpose is to 
amend this particular Agreement, and which is duly executed by the City and Consultant.  Consultant 
acknowledges that no such amendment shall be effective until approved and authorized by the City 
Council, or an officer of the City when the City Council may from time to time empower an officer of the 
City to approve and authorize such amendments.  No representative of the City is authorized to obligate 
the City to pay the cost or value of services beyond the scope of services set forth in Appendix Two.  Such 
authority is retained solely by the City Council.  Unless expressly authorized by the City Council, 
Consultant's compensation shall be limited to that set forth in Appendix Two. 
 
 

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 6 
 

  

SECTION 14 
Miscellaneous Provisions 

 
 1. Project Manager.  Director reserves the right to approve the project manager assigned by 
Consultant to said work.  No change in assignment may occur without prior written approval of the City. 
 
 2. Consultant Service.  Consultant is employed to render professional services only and any 
payments made to Consultant are compensation solely for such professional services. 
 
 3. Licensure.  Consultant warrants that he or she has complied with any and all applicable 
governmental licensing requirements. 
 
 4. Other Agreements.  This Agreement supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral 
or in writing, between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter, and no other agreement, 
statement or promise related to the subject matter of this Agreement which is not contained in this 
Agreement shall be valid or binding. 
 
 5. City Property.  Upon payment for the work performed, or portion thereof, all drawings, 
specifications, records, or other documents generated by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are, and 
shall remain, the property of the City whether the project for which they are made is executed or not.  The 
Consultant shall be permitted to retain copies, including reproducible copies, of drawings and specifications 
for information and reference in connection with the City's use and/or occupancy of the project.  The 
drawings, specifications, records, documents, and Consultant's other work product shall not be used by 
the Consultant on other projects, except by agreement in writing and with appropriate compensation to the 
City. 
 
 6. Consultant's Records.  Consultant shall maintain accurate accounting records and other 
written documentation pertaining to the costs incurred for this project.  Such records and documentation 
shall be kept available at Consultant's office during the period of this Agreement, and after the term of this 
Agreement for a period of three years from the date of the final City payment for Consultant's services. 
 
 7. Independent Contractor.  In the performance of its work, it is expressly understood that 
Consultant, including Consultant's agents, servants, employees, and subcontractors, is an independent 
contractor solely responsible for its acts and omissions, and Consultant shall not be considered an 
employee of the City for any purpose. 
 
 8. Conflicts of Interest.  Consultant stipulates that corporately or individually, its firm, its 
employees and subcontractors have no financial interest in either the success or failure of any project 
which is, or may be, dependent on the results of the Consultant's work product prepared pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

 
9. Notices.  All notices herein provided to be given, or which may be given by either party 

to the other, shall be deemed to have been fully given and fully received when made in writing and 
deposited in the United States mail, certified and postage prepaid, and addressed to the respective 
parties as follows: 
  

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 7 
 

  

 

 

CITY CONSULTANT 
CITY OF CAPITOLA 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 

831-475-7300 

CSG Consultants 

550 Pilgrim Drive 
Foster City, CA 94404 

(650) 522-2500 
 
 
By:__________________________________ 
           Benjamin Goldstein, City Manager 
 

 
 
By:__________________________________ 
         Charles D. Rider, Secretary 

  

Dated:________________________________ Dated:_______________________________ 
  

  

  

Approved as to Form: 
 
_______________________________  
 Samantha Zutler, City Attorney 
 

 

 
  

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 8 
 

  

APPENDIX ONE 
Scope of Services 

 
 
Services are to be provided on an as needed basis. Consultant shall provide well qualified and 
competent personnel to provide the following services to City: 
 

1. Building Plan Review Services 
 

a. Services shall consist of the review of plans and documents for compliance with the City’s 
adopted or enforced codes and regulations. Additionally, services shall be provided in 
accordance with accepted standards of practice for government plan review, and in 
conformance with the policies, procedures, interpretations and practices of the City. 

b. Services shall include but may not necessarily be limited to the examination of the following 
plans: Structural; electrical, mechanical & plumbing code; disabled access code; Green 
Building Code; Energy Code; and Non-structural fire and life-safety. 

c. During the plan review process, Consultant shall meet, if requested, with the applicant or 
architect/engineer, City staff or consultants. 

d. Turn-around time shall be a maximum of ten (10) business days for the first check. The turn-
around time for subsequent checks, revisions, deferred submittals, and RFIs shall be a 
maximum of five (5) business days. Note: Turn-around time may vary with the complexity 
and magnitude of the project. If a review is anticipated to take longer than the maximum 
turnaround time, Consultant shall notify City and negotiate additional time required to ensure 
an appropriate level of review.  

e. At their option, City may transmit plans for review digitally in electronic format, or physically 
in hard copy format. Consultant may provide courier service to pick-up and return plans to 
City.  

f. Consultant shall provide expedited plan review services upon request of City. The review 
time shall be five (5) working days or less, or by mutually agreed upon between City and 
Consultant. 

g. City shall provide Consultant local changes to State codes as adopted from time to time. 
 
  

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



Professional Services Agreement October 25, 2019 
Building Consultant Services 
CSG Consultants 
Page 9 
 

  

APPENDIX TWO 
Fees and Payments 

 
  
 Consultant will provide invoices to the City for all services and expenses on a monthly basis. 
City will endeavor to pay all invoices within 30 days of receipt.  The total amount billed by Consultant 
and paid by City pursuant to this agreement shall not exceed $61,300 FY 2019/2020 and $39,600 
FY2020/2021 without written advance authorization from the City. 
 

Consultant hereby represents and warrants, based upon Consultant’s independent 
determination of the time and labor, including overtime, which will be required to perform said services, 
that Consultant will provide all said services at a cost which will not exceed the maximum price set 
forth in this agreement for Consultant’s services. Consultant hereby assumes the risk that Consultant 
will perform said services within this maximum price constraint and Consultant acknowledges that its 
inability to do so shall not excuse completion of the services and shall not provide a basis for additional 
compensation. 
 
 Salary expenses include the actual direct pay of personnel assigned to the project (except for 
routine secretarial and account services) plus payroll taxes, insurance, sick leave, holidays, vacation, 
and other fringe benefits.  The percentage of compensation attributable to salary expenses includes all 
of Consultant’s indirect overhead costs and fees.  For purposes of this Agreement, Consultant’s salary 
expenses and non-salary expenses will be compensated at the rates set forth in the fee schedule 
attached to this appendix and in accordance with the terms set forth therein. Non-salary expenses 
include travel, meals and lodging while traveling, materials other than normal office supplies, 
reproduction and printing costs, equipment rental, computer services, service of subconsultants or 
subcontractors, and other identifiable job expenses.  The use of Consultant’s vehicles for travel shall 
be paid at the current Internal Revenue Service published mileage rate. 
 
 Salary payment for personnel time will be made at the rates set forth in the attached fee schedule 
for all time charged to the project.  Normal payroll rates are for 40 hours per week.  Consultant shall not 
charge the City for personnel overtime salary at rates higher than those set forth in the attached fee 
schedule without the City’s prior written authorization. 
 
 In no event shall the total fee charged for the scope of work set forth in Appendix One exceed 
the total budget of $61,300 (Sixty-one thousand three hundred dollars), for fiscal year 2019/2020 and 
$31,600 (thirty-one thousand six hundred dollars) for fiscal year 2020/2021 without specific, written 
advance authorization from the City. 
 
 Payments shall be made monthly by the City, based on itemized invoices from the Consultant 
which list actual costs and expenses. Such payments shall be for the invoice amount. The monthly 
statements shall contain the following affidavit signed by a principal of the Consultant’s firm: 
 
 "I hereby certify as principal of the firm of CSG Consultants, that the not to exceed of $61,300 FY 
2019/2020 and $39,600 FY2020/2021 total as summarized above and shown in detail on the attachments 
is fair and reasonable, is in accordance with the terms of the Agreement dated October 25, 2019, and has 
not been previously paid." 
 
 
 
 
 

8.D.1

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

ts
 -

 F
ix

ed
 F

ee
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

10
.2

5.
20

19
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



CITY OF CAPITOLA 
BUILDING PLAN REVIEW & INSPECTION SERVICES 

 

 

Fee Schedule 

CSG’s fee schedule for proposed work is provided below. CSG will coordinate the pickup and return of all 
plans to CSG via CSG staff or a licensed courier service. This service is provided at no additional cost.  

Plan review is based on a percentage of plan check fees and includes the initial plan review and two 
subsequent reviews. Additional reviews, deferred submittals, revisions, and RFIs will be charged at the 
appropriate hourly rate below or as otherwise determined by mutual agreement with the City. RFIs for 
larger developments will be performed at an hourly rate, and turnaround times will be agreed upon in 
advance with the City. The hourly rates for the 2019-2020 and 2020-2021 Fiscal Year are provided in 
their respective columns below.  

PERSONNEL / SERVICES ALL INCLUSIVE FEE / HOURLY RATE 

BUILDING PLAN REVIEW FY 2019-2020 FY 2020-2021 

Full Plan Review by Percentage 65% of City’s Building Plan Check Fees 

Structural Plan Review by Percentage 55% of City’s Building Plan Check Fees 

Expedited Plan Review by Percentage 95% of City’s Building Plan Check Fees 

Building Plan Review / Professional Engineer (Hourly) $125 $130 

Building Plan Review / ICC Licensed Plans Examiner (Hourly) $100 $105 

CASp Consultation / Review (Hourly) $135 $140 

Expedited Plan Review (Hourly) 1.5 x Hourly Rate 

BUILDING STAFFING SERVICES FY 2019-2020 FY 2020-2021 

Certified Building Inspector $105 $110 

CASp Inspection $135 $140 

Building Official / Counter Assistance $115 $120 

All hourly rates include salaries, benefits, workers compensation insurance, local travel and miscellaneous 
office expenses. Should the scope of work change or circumstances develop which necessitate special 
handling, CSG will notify the City prior to proceeding. Overtime services will be billed at 1.5x the applicable 
hourly rate. On each anniversary of the contract start date, CSG will initiate an hourly rate increase based on 
change in CPI for the applicable region. CSG will invoice on a monthly basis for services rendered during the 
prior month. Unless otherwise agreed, payment terms are 30-days from receipt of invoice.  

 

8.D.2

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 F
Y

 1
9-

20
  2

0-
21

 F
ee

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



8.D.3

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

 (
C

S
G

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

fo
r 

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

la
n

 r
ev

ie
w

)



 
 

 

Sole Source Purchases Determination 
CSG Consultants ● $100,000 ● Building Plan Review 

 

 
BACKGROUND:  The City of Capitola Purchasing and Procurement Policy (Administrative Policy III-4), 
requires three telephone quotes whenever feasible for purchases between $5,000 - $25,000.  The Policy 
also requires a formal RFP bid procedure for purchases over $25,000.  The policy conditions for Sole 
Source (Section II) purchases that are exempt from the competitive process. 
 
DISCUSSION:  The contract with the CSG Consultants for Building Plan Review and Staffing in the 
amount of $61,300 dated October 25, 2019, is a qualified sole source purchase within the City 
Administrative Policy III-4 Section II. 
 
Policy Section B1:  Materials, Supplies & Equipment:  

 
______ (a ) Definition. Sole source purchases are used where no secondary source is 
reasonably available precluding the use of a competitive process. 

 
Policy Section B2: Consultant or General Services: 

 
__X__ (a.) In the case where a consulting firm has satisfactorily performed the previous 
stage of a project (e.g. a pre-design), or has acquired extensive background and working 
knowledge, the firm may be selected for follow- up work without solicitations from other 
firm upon written justification and recommendation of the department head and approval 
by the City Manager or designee. 
 
____ (b.) If a firm is a highly recognized authority in a field or specialty, or has unique 
specific knowledge regarding the project, then the firm may be selected without other 
solicitations for contracts and upon written justification and recommendation of the 
department head and approval by the City Manager or designee. 
 
______(c.) Upon those infrequent occasions when confidence in the consultant and 
quality of service are important. 

 
CSG Consultants has provided the City of Capitola with building plan review and staffing services for 
the past two months.  Their staff has acquired extensive working knowledge of the Capitola building 
review system, inspection services, and computer systems.   
 

  
 
 
 

___________________________________________    ____________________________________ 
 Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director  Date     Jamie Goldstein, City Manager    Date 

8.D.4

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
G

 S
o

le
 S

o
u

rc
e 

V
en

d
o

r 
 (

C
S

G
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
fo

r 
B

u
ild

in
g

 P
la

n
 r

ev
ie

w
)



 

 
 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
MEETING OF OCTOBER 24, 2019 

 
FROM:  Public Works Department 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Adding Streets within the Jewel Box Neighborhood to be Slurry Sealed 

as Part of the Jewel Box Sewer Project  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the Public Works Department to reimburse the County of 
Santa Cruz for slurry sealing additional streets within the Jewel Box neighborhood as part of the 
County’s Jewel Box Sewer Project at an estimated cost of $84,750; and approve a budget 
amendment of $93,000 transferring funds within the Capital Improvement Program. 
 
BACKGROUND: In 2018 the City completed a citywide slurry seal project that initially included 

some streets within the Jewel Box neighborhood. While planning the slurry project, Public 

Works staff was also working with County of Santa Cruz staff on scheduling the Jewel Box 

Sewer Project (sewer project). The sewer project included slurry seals on the impacted streets. 

At the time the City bid the 2018 slurry project, City staff removed several streets within the 

Jewel Box to avoid conflicts with the sewer project.  At the time, it was anticipated that the City 

would coordinate with the County to add streets to the sewer project slurry to ensure all of the 

streets in the neighborhood were sealed once the sewer project was completed. As the sewer 

project is nearing completion, the contractor is scheduling the slurry seal and Public Works staff 

is recommending adding slurry seals on 45th Avenue, 47th Avenue, 49th Avenue, Topaz Street, 

and small portions of Emerald Street and Garnet Street to the project. A map is included as 

Attachment 1. 

 

DISCUSSION: The County’s contractor has calculated the cost to add this additional work at the 

contract prices prescribed in its contract. Public Works staff has requested the contractor also 

provide some pothole and pavement repairs prior to the slurry seal.  The cost of the City’s 

requested additional work breaks down as follows: 

Work Item     Cost 

Slurry Seal     $37,507  

Striping     $29,243  

3 days of pothole/street repair ($750/hour) $18,000  

Total      $84,750 

The contractor’s pricing sheets are included as Attachment 2. The pothole and street repair 

work will be done under the direction of Public Works staff and the $18,000 is the maximum that 

will be spent. The slurry seal and striping final costs will be based on the actual quantity 

8.E

Packet Pg. 138



Jewel Box Sewer Add Slurry  
October 24, 2019 
 
completed.  

As has been the past practice when working with the County to add work to one of its projects, 

the City will issue a Purchase Order to the County for the $84,570 and then the County will bill 

the City once the work is complete. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: When originally budgeted, the 2018 slurry seal project budget included 

funding for this additional work, but unfortunately the actual costs exceeded the estimated 

amount.  As a result, the remaining fund balance in the slurry seal project is only $21,368. 

Additional funding is available from the 38th Avenue improvement project that was also 

completed in 2018. This project has a remaining fund balance of $72,382. A budget transfer has 

been prepared to create a new Capital Improvement Program project for this work and transfer 

both project balances to this new project.  This transfer will allow for the previously completed 

projects to be closed. Funds remaining from the $93,750 being transferred will be available for 

use on future projects.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Map 
2. Slurry Seal Pricing 
3. 2019-20 Slurry Seal - Jewel Box Budget Amendment 

 
Report Prepared By:   Steve Jesberg 
 Public Works Director 
 

 

 

Reviewed and Forwarded by: 

 

8.E

Packet Pg. 139



SCCSD

LEGEND 
SCCSD -  
City of Capitola - 

8.E.1

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ap
  (

Je
w

el
 B

o
x 

S
ew

er
 A

d
d

 S
lu

rr
y)



 

 

9/25/2019 
 

Santa Cruz County Sanitation District 

701 Ocean Street, Room 410 

Santa Cruz , CA 95060 
 

Attn: Mr. David Seanez 

 Construction Manager 

 

Project Title: Capitola /Jewel Box Sewer Replacement  
 
 Re: Additional Slurry Sealing to 45thAve, 47th Ave, 49th Ave, Emerald St, Garnet St & Topaz St.  

 

 
Ranger Pipelines, Inc. hereby submit our PCO in the amount of $37,506.50 to slurry 

seal the additional streets above. 

  

Additional Slurry Sealing Costs 

          

Description  Quantity  Unit  Unit Price  Total  

          

Additional Slurry Seal  16,570 SY  - - 

          

Additional Slurry Seal (Up to 125% of Contract) 12,350 SY  $     2.14   $ 26,429.00  

          

Additional Slurry Seal (Over 125% of Contract) 4,220 SY  $     2.63   $ 11,077.50  

          

Total Cost for Additional Slurry Sealing         $ 37,506.50  

          

          

 

 

 

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



 

 

Exclusions/Clarifications 
 

 Slurry seal approximately 16,570 SY of additional streets. 

 This does not include the additional portion on Grace St that has since been removed. 

 The additional slurry seal will commence after the contract slurry seal has been 
completed. 

 Contract time extension will be required if slurry sealing and striping cannot be 
performed until Spring 2020. 

 If the work cannot be performed this year (2019) due to inclement weather, Graham 
Contractors is charging $9,500 per day to mobilize and complete the work in 2020. 

 The unit rate price for additional slurry seal from our contractor is $2.50 SY, All 
additional slurry over 125% of original contract will be charged at this rate. 

 Additional slurry over 125% of original contract will have a 5% Subcontractor Markup.  
 Attached quote from Graham Contractor’s for additional slurry sealing.  
 Working Hours, 7am to 5pm 

 

 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
Gavin McElhinney 
 
 

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



I N C. EST. 1976
Post Office Box 26770

San Jose, CA 95159         Phone (408) 293-9516      Fax (408) 293-3633 Crack Seal Division Ph:(916) 257-7158  Fax (916) 772-9327

To: Gavin McElhinney Quote Date:

Firm: Ranger Pipelines Bid Date/Time

Phone: (415) 866-7459 City 

Fax: Contr. NO

Email: gavin@rangerpipelines.com

Job:

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UOM QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

CHANGE ORDER Slurry Seal SY 16,570 $2.50 41,425.00$                                                

INCLUDES ADD TWO (2)  DAYS OF WORK TO BASE 

Add portions of 45th, 47th, 49th, Emerald, Garnet & Topaz

Includes:

Price Good October 15, 2019 # OF DAYS ON JOB: UP TO 5 DAYS

Thru Each Add'l DAY: $9,500.00

Exclusions:  Permits, Fees, Bonds (Bondable @ 1%), Removal of Parked Cars, A/C Patching, Heavy Cleaning / Pressure Washing,

OCIP/CCIP/WRAP Participation OR Fees (these may be added at actual cost, pending approval by our insurer), Builder's Risk Insurance, 

Terms of Quote: Payment Within 30 Days of substantial completion of our work / NO RETENTION ON PROJECTS UNDER $ 7,501.00

AND CANNOT BE SUPERSEDED BY ANY OTHER TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT

Accepted

By: Date:

Title:

G R A H A M 

C O N T R A C T O R S

for Santa Cruz County Sanitation District

Stripe/Marker Removal, Stripe/Marker Replacement, Stripe/Marker Protection, Temporary Delineation of any type, Job-Specific Calibration,

72-Hour Post & Notify, Pre-Sweeping, 

Traffic Control, 

QUOTATION

CONDITIONS OF THIS QUOTE, UNLESS AND UNTIL THE PARTIES THEREAFTER SIGN A MUTUALLY ACCEPTABLE WRITTEN AGREEMENT

REVISED #3…..9-24-19

CAPITOLA / JEWEL BOX SEWER REPLACEMENT

Capitola

N/A

THIS QUOTATION AND CONDITIONS MUST BECOME PART OF ANY CONTRACT OR PURCHASE ORDER,

IF CONTRACTOR OR OWNER DIRECTS GRAHAM CONTRACTORS TO PROCEED WITH THE WORK SET FORTH ABOVE,

EVEN IF SAID DIRECTION IS ONLY MADE VERBALLY OR ELECTRONICALLY, THEN CONTRACTOR AGREES TO THE TERMS AND

Grading/Base Prep/Watering, Formal OR Certified Traffic Control Plans, Attenuator Vehicles,

Che Corlett

CA Lic. # 315789  A, C-12 ------ DIR Reg. # 1000006175

GRAHAM CONTRACTORS IS UNION SIGNATORY

Quote Submitted By:  

Repair of power steering marks (inherent to materials being used), QA/QC/TESTING, SWPPP/WPCP/BMPs,

41,425.00$                                                

Traffic Police, Tack/Prime Coats, Flood Testing, Leveling Courses, Rut Filling, Security Classes/Badging, 

Saturday & Sunday Work, Night Work, Any and ALL Contractual Share Payments or Agreements, 

Installation of Posts/Signs, Curb Painting, Bollard Painting, Wheel Stops, Sandblasting or Grinding of any type, Informational Signage

TOTAL

Crackfilling, Rout/Sawcutting of cracks, Herbicide, Clearing/Grubbing, Vegetation / Tree Trimming, Job-Site Scales, CMS Boards,

Railroad or VTA Traffic Control / Insurance / Permits / Classes / Fees of any type, Federal Wages,

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)

mailto:gavin@rangerpipelines.com


 

 

9/25/2019 
 

Santa Cruz County Sanitation District 

701 Ocean Street, Room 410 

Santa Cruz , CA 95060 
 

Attn: Mr. David Seanez 

 Construction Manager 

 

Project Title: Capitola /Jewel Box Sewer Replacement  
 
 Re: Additional Striping to 45thAve, 47th Ave, 49th Ave, Emerald St, Garnet St & Topaz St.  

 

 
Ranger Pipelines, Inc. hereby submit our PCO in the amount of $29,242.50 to stripe 

the additional streets above.  

Additional Striping Costs 

          

Description  Quantity  Unit  Unit Price  Total  

          

          

Additional Striping   1 LS  $ 27,850.00   $ 27,850.00  

          

Markup Percentage on Sub Contractors    5%    $   1,392.50  

          

          

          

Total Cost for Additional Striping         $ 29,242.50  

          

          

 

 

 

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



 

 

Exclusions/Clarifications 
 

 Removal of existing thermoplastic striping to 45thAve, 47th Ave, 49th Ave, Emerald St, 
Garnet St & Topaz St 

 Install new striping to match existing striping to 45thAve, 47th Ave, 49th Ave, Emerald St, 
Garnet St & Topaz St 

 This does not include the additional portion on Grace St that has since been removed. 

 The additional striping will commence after the contract striping has been completed. 

 Contract time extension will be required if slurry sealing and striping cannot be 
performed until Spring 2020. 

 Attached quote from Sierra Striping for additional striping.  
 Working Hours, 7am to 5pm 

 

 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
Gavin McElhinney 
 
 

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



CHANGE ORDER #

Date 9/25/2019

TO
Ranger Pipelines, Inc.
PO Box 24109
San Francisco, CA 94124

Ranger Pipelines, Inc.
PO Box 24109
San Francisco, CA 94124

1

PROJECT NAME: Capitola Jewel Box Sewer
PROJECT ADDRESS:
CITY: Santa Cruz County, CA

Glenn BacchiAttn: Gavin McElhinney
CUSTOMER JOB #:
AUTHORIZED BY:

ESTIMATE #: 19-281

Customer E-mail: Gavin@rangerpipelines.com

CHANGE ORDER TOTAL

Office: 415-822-3700
Fax: 415-822-3703

9725 Del Road Suite B Roseville, Ca. 95747
(916) 774-9080 Office     (916) 774-9088 Fax

It is mutually agreed that for such change the contract price is increased by
All provisions of the original contract and agreement shall remain in full force and effect, without change because of above
deviations. All change orders must be approved before Sierra Traffic Markings can complete any additional work requested or
required. Upon approval of all changes above, please sign, date and return back Sierra Traffic Markings, Inc..

Thank You, 
Sierra Traffic Markings, Inc.

The original contract agreement between Sierra Traffic Markings, Inc. and the contractor named above is here by modified and
amended by the following deviations from the original contract.

DESCRIPTION OF CHANGE OR MODIFICATION

Authorized Name & Signature                                                   Date Accepted

Upon Approval Please Sign Below

SIERRA TRAFFIC MARKINGS, INC.

DESCRIPTIONQTYITEM UNIT TOTAL
LS. ADDITIONAL WORK1 27,850.00

45TH AVENUE
LF. Detail 22610
LF. Detail 391,032
LF. Detail 39A400
EA. 8' STOP Stencil1
EA. Bike Symbol with Rider4
EA. "25"1
EA. Speed Bump Striping2
EA. BUMP Legend4
LS. Remove Thermoplastic Striping and Markings1

47TH AVENUE
EA. Ladder Crosswalk1
EA. Speed Bump Striping3
LS. Remove Thermoplastic Marking1

********************CONTINUES ONTO NEXT PAGE********************

Page 1

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



CHANGE ORDER #

Date 9/25/2019

TO
Ranger Pipelines, Inc.
PO Box 24109
San Francisco, CA 94124

Ranger Pipelines, Inc.
PO Box 24109
San Francisco, CA 94124

1

PROJECT NAME: Capitola Jewel Box Sewer
PROJECT ADDRESS:
CITY: Santa Cruz County, CA

Glenn BacchiAttn: Gavin McElhinney
CUSTOMER JOB #:
AUTHORIZED BY:

ESTIMATE #: 19-281

Customer E-mail: Gavin@rangerpipelines.com

CHANGE ORDER TOTAL

Office: 415-822-3700
Fax: 415-822-3703

9725 Del Road Suite B Roseville, Ca. 95747
(916) 774-9080 Office     (916) 774-9088 Fax

It is mutually agreed that for such change the contract price is increased by
All provisions of the original contract and agreement shall remain in full force and effect, without change because of above
deviations. All change orders must be approved before Sierra Traffic Markings can complete any additional work requested or
required. Upon approval of all changes above, please sign, date and return back Sierra Traffic Markings, Inc..

Thank You, 
Sierra Traffic Markings, Inc.

The original contract agreement between Sierra Traffic Markings, Inc. and the contractor named above is here by modified and
amended by the following deviations from the original contract.

DESCRIPTION OF CHANGE OR MODIFICATION

Authorized Name & Signature                                                   Date Accepted

Upon Approval Please Sign Below

SIERRA TRAFFIC MARKINGS, INC.

DESCRIPTIONQTYITEM UNIT TOTAL
49TH AVENUE
EA. Ladder Crosswalk1
EA. Speed Bump Striping3
LS. Remove Thermoplastic Marking1

TOPAZ STREET
LF. Detail 22150
EA. 8' STOP Stencil w/ Limit Line4
LS. Remove Thermoplastic Marking1

NOTE: Additional Work to be Completed At Same Time as Original Contract Work

Page 2

$27,850.00

$27,850.00

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



REPORT No.: XWK - 

DATE:

PCO No.:

COR:

Page No.:

Ranger Pipelines, Inc.

No. D -LABOR RATE EXT. AMOUNT

No. ACTUAL  PAY 1 Operator 1 78.69$    $78.69

1 1

1 1 1 Laborer 1 58.37$    $58.37

1 1

1 1 1 Laborer 1  $   58.37 $58.37

1 Bomag BW 120AD Roller 1

1 Laborer 1  $   58.37 $58.37

 

$253.80

No. Unit No. Unit 19 $48.22

1 $302.02

1 1 Ton 15 $45.30

No. Unit No. Unit

1 1 Hrs. $733.84

2 $14.68

$748.52

Gavin McElhinney 9/20/2019

DATE

DATE

*s Denotes Standby Rate

PROJECT: RANGER PIPELINES, INC.

OWNER: 1790 YOSEMITE AVE

Job #: SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94124

(415) 822.3700  Fax: (415) 822.3703

Extra Work Report

WORK PERFORMED BY:

DESCRIPTION OF WORK:
This is a sample T&M tag for a paving crew. Depending on how much paving there is will determine the size of the crew and the amount of equipment required. Some equipment may or 

may not be required to carry out the works. These are the base rates so you can make a estimate off these. 

A- EQUIPMENT HOURS HOURLY EXTENDED HOURS

Foreman Truck (F250 & F350) 20.29$             $20.29

6 Yard Dump Truck 36.46$             $36.46

DESCRIPTION Rate AMOUNT

Crew Truck (F250 &F350) 20.29$             $20.29

John Deere 310G Backhoe 36.75$             $36.75

28.69$             $28.69

SUBTOTAL

Asphalt $78.84 $78.84 % MARKUP ON LABOR

COST OF EQUIPMENT - A $142.48

                B-MATERIALS SUBTOTAL

DESCRIPTION UNIT COST AMOUNT % LABOR SURCHARGE

7.5% Surcharge for Small Tools

               C-SUBCONTRACTORS

TOTAL COST OF EQUIPMENT, MALT'S, & SUBS-A & B & C
$386.52

DESCRIPTION UNIT COST AMOUNT

TOTAL COST OF LABOR - D $347.33COST OF MATERIALS & WORK-B $78.84

TOTAL THIS REPORT

COST OF SUBCONTRACTOR & WORK-C $110.00 CERTIFIED CORRECT:

10 wheeler $110.00 $110.00 SUBTOTAL

% MARKUP Bonds & Insur

TOTAL COST A & B & C (Incl. Markup) $386.52

TOTAL COST & 15 % MARK- UP A (Equipment) $163.85 For Ranger Pipelines, Inc.

TOTAL COST & 15 % MARK- UP B (Material) $90.67

TOTAL COST & 5 % MARK- UP OR 20% ON TRUCKING C (Subcontractor) $132.00 Inspector

8.E.2

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l P

ri
ci

n
g

  (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)



8.E.3

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

20
 S

lu
rr

y 
S

ea
l -

 J
ew

el
 B

o
x 

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

 (
Je

w
el

 B
o

x 
S

ew
er

 A
d

d
 S

lu
rr

y)


	Agenda Packet
	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	A. Roll Call

	2. PRESENTATIONS
	A. Assembly Member Mark Stone Presentation
	Printout: Assembly Member Mark Stone Presentation

	B. Local Government Academy
	Printout: Local Government Academy


	3. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	5. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	6. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS
	7. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Approval of City Council Minutes
	Printout: Approval of City Council Minutes
	1. 9-26 draft minutes

	B. PC minutes
	Printout: PC minutes
	1. 10-3-19 Action

	C. Approval of City Check Registers
	Printout: Approval of City Check Registers
	1. 9/6/19 City Check Register
	2. 9/13/19 City Check Register
	3. 9/20/19 City Check Register
	4. 9/27/19 City Check Register

	D. State of California ABC Grant Acceptance
	Printout: State of California ABC Grant Acceptance
	1. 19_20 ABC Approval Letter
	2. ABC Grant Budget Amendment

	E. 41st Avenue Striping Contract
	Printout: 41st Avenue Striping Contract
	1. Striping Bids

	F. Schedule appeal
	Printout: Schedule appeal
	1. Oliver Appeal to Capitola City Council October 13 2019


	8. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Afterschool Program Scholarships
	Printout: Afterschool Program Scholarships
	1. Scholarship Application
	2. Afterschool Scholarship Program Budget Amendment

	B. Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment
	Printout: Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment
	1. Summary of Building Code Changes
	2. 2019 Fire Code

	C. Planning Commission Residency Ordinance
	Printout: Planning Commission Residency Ordinance
	1. PC ordinance public comment

	D. CSG Contract for Building Plan review
	Printout: CSG Contract for Building Plan review
	1. CSG Consultants - Fixed Fee Contract - 10.25.2019
	2. CSG FY 19-20  20-21 Fee Schedule
	3. CSG Contract Budget Amendment
	4. CSG Sole Source Vendor

	E. Jewel Box Sewer Add Slurry
	Printout: Jewel Box Sewer Add Slurry
	1. Map
	2. Slurry Seal Pricing
	3. 2019-20 Slurry Seal - Jewel Box Budget Amendment


	9. ADJOURNMENT

	Appendix
	2.A · Assembly Member Mark Stone Presentation
	2.B · Local Government Academy
	7.A · Approval of City Council Minutes
	7.A.1 · 9-26 draft minutes

	7.B · PC minutes
	7.B.1 · 10-3-19 Action

	7.C · Approval of City Check Registers
	7.C.1 · 9/6/19 City Check Register
	7.C.2 · 9/13/19 City Check Register
	7.C.3 · 9/20/19 City Check Register
	7.C.4 · 9/27/19 City Check Register

	7.D · State of California ABC Grant Acceptance
	7.D.1 · 19_20 ABC Approval Letter
	7.D.2 · ABC Grant Budget Amendment

	7.E · 41st Avenue Striping Contract
	7.E.1 · Striping Bids

	7.F · Schedule appeal
	7.F.1 · Oliver Appeal to Capitola City Council October 13 2019

	8.A · Afterschool Program Scholarships
	8.A.1 · Scholarship Application
	8.A.2 · Afterschool Scholarship Program Budget Amendment

	8.B · Intro Ord Building and Fire Model Code Amendment
	8.B.1 · Summary of Building Code Changes
	8.B.2 · 2019 Fire Code

	8.C · Planning Commission Residency Ordinance
	8.C.1 · PC ordinance public comment

	8.D · CSG Contract for Building Plan review
	8.D.1 · CSG Consultants - Fixed Fee Contract - 10.25.2019
	8.D.2 · CSG FY 19-20  20-21 Fee Schedule
	8.D.3 · CSG Contract Budget Amendment
	8.D.4 · CSG Sole Source Vendor

	8.E · Jewel Box Sewer Add Slurry
	8.E.1 · Map
	8.E.2 · Slurry Seal Pricing
	8.E.3 · 2019-20 Slurry Seal - Jewel Box Budget Amendment



	Parent FirstLast Name: 
	Child Name: 
	Address: 
	City: 
	Zip: 
	Primary Phone: 
	Secondary Phone: 
	Email Address: 
	Progam Title 1: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 
	5: 
	6: 

	Cost of program: 
	0: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 
	5: 
	6: 


	Date: 
	0: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 
	5: 
	6: 


	CLEAR FORM: 
	Household Size: 
	Household Monthly Income: 
	Check Box1: Off
	Signature: 
	Signature Date: 


